
EXECUTIVE
AGENDA

Venue: This meeting will be a virtual meeting and
                                  therefore will not take place in a physical location. 
Date: Tuesday, 21st July, 2020
Time: 10.00 am
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby               Tel: 01946 598328

1. Attendances and Apologies for Absence 

2. Statements of Executive Decisions of the Meeting held on 16 
June 2020 

1 - 6

3. Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items: 

4. Written Questions from Members of the Public 

5. Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

6. Forward Plan 7 - 12

7. 2019/20 Council Performance Plan - Quarter 4 13 - 64

8. 2019/20 Revenue & Capital Budget Monitoring Report - 
Provisional Outturn 

65 - 74

9. Off-Street Parking Places Order 2020 75 - 94

10. The UK Government's approach to identifying a site for a 
Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) for higher-activity radioactive 
waste 

95 - 98

11. Business and Planning Bill 99 - 110

Public Document Pack



EXEMPT INFORMATION
The Mayor to move:
That under Section 100 (a) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item 
on the grounds that, if they were present, there could be disclosed to 
them exempt information as defined in the relevant paragraphs of 
Schedule 12A of the Act.

12. Update on Copeland Borough Council's Development of a 
Business Case for Whitehaven against The Future High Streets 
Fund 

111 - 118

13. Date and Time of Next Meeting: 

The next meeting of the Executive will be held on Tuesday 
25 August 2020 at 10:00am. This will be a virtual meeting.

NOTES

Members of the public are welcome to view this meeting on the Council’s 
website, except during the consideration of exempt or confidential items. If 
you have a query on the meeting arrangements or if you require a copy of this 
document in a different format (large print, braille, audio tape, electronic 
formats such as CD or in a different language) please contact the relevant 
officer as shown below. 

Call-In
Most of the decisions taken by the Executive can be ‘called in’, in accordance 
with Council’s Constitution, within 5 working days of the decision notice being 
published. It is expected that the decision notice will be published on Friday 
24 July 2020. Subject to this publication, the deadline for calling in any 
decision is 5.00pm on Friday 31 July 2020. 

Contacts: Direct Dial: 01946 598328
E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk



Notice of Decisions Taken Under Delegated Powers 
by the Executive on Tuesday, 16 June 2020

NOTES: The deadline for calling in any of these decisions is 5.00 pm on 26 June 2020.

A copy of the Executive agenda setting out all the reports has previously been circulated to all 
Members of the Council.

Officers are asked to read this Decision Notice, as it is the responsibility of the Officer named in 
the Action Column to ensure that the appropriate action is taken.

If you require further information on any issue, please contact the Officer named in the right hand 
column.  For general information or to obtain a copy of any documentation please contact 
Democratic Services.

This was a virtual meeting.
Present: Mayor Mike Starkie, Councillors David Moore (Deputy Mayor), Gwynneth Everett, 
Michael McVeigh and Steven Morgan (Joined the meeting at Agenda Item 2).

Officers Present: Pat Graham, Chief Executive; Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources; 
Sarah Pemberton, Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy; Mike Graham, Political 
Advisor; Clinton Boyce, Solicitor; Andrew Clarke, Communications and Engagement Manager; 
Stephanie Shaw, Electoral and Democratic Services Manager; Clive Willoughby, Democratic 
Services Officer and Amanda Starr, Strategic Housing and Social Inclusion Manager.

Apologies for Absence: 

There were no Apologies for Absence.

Statements of Decisions – The Statements of Decisions made on the 16th March 2020 were agreed 
as a correct record and will be signed by the Mayor as soon as practicable. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS IN AGENDA ITEMS:

Decision

No declarations of Interest were made by those present.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
4 WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

Decision

Not applicable as no questions had been received from Members of the 
public.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Page 2



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
5. FORWARD PLAN

Decision

RESOLVED - that the forward plan be agreed, subject to the addition of the 
Anti-Money Laundering Policy, Car Park Order 2020 and Geological Disposal 
Facility which will be coming to Executive on 21st July 2020 and Industrial 
Solutions Hub which will be a Part II report provisionally to Council on 
14th July 2020.

Reason for Decision

The Local Authority (Executive Arrangements (Access to information 
(England) Regulations 2012 requires a forward plan to be prepared in 
respect of key decisions.  The work plan is good practice.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
6. CUMBRIA-WIDE CHOICE BASED LETTINGS 

This report came to the Executive following consultation with a range of 
stakeholders and customers, including the Housing Portfolio Holder and 
with input from the Councillor Homelessness Champion.  The Copeland 
Housing Options Team Leader has helped shape the revisions.  Officers 
presented a final draft of the refreshed Choice Based Lettings Policy for 
consideration by the Executive.  

Decision

RESOLVED – that 
a) The Cumbria Choice Allocations Policy for publication later this year 

be approved, and
b) Authority be delegated to the Strategic Housing and Social Inclusion 

Manager in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Environment 
and Place to approve any minor amendments identified during the 
approval process of Partner Organisations.

 
Reason for Decision

The agenda report contained the final draft of the refreshed Cumbria-wide 
Choice Based Lettings Policy contained in Appendix 1.  The policy, launched 
in 2011, applies to the six District Councils and eight Social Housing 

Amanda Starr, 
Strategic 
Housing and 
Social Inclusion 
Manager

Page 3



Providers, including all those operating in Copeland. All local housing 
authorities are required to have an allocation scheme for determining 
priorities and procedures for the allocation of social housing in the authority 
area (regardless of whether the authority has its own housing stock).   In 
Cumbria, all Districts share the same Policy and it is the means by which 
social housing in allocated.  This partnership of Districts and Housing 
providers is managed by a Board with representative from each 
organisation.  South Lakes District Council are currently the lead for the 
partnership, as agree within a legally binding agreement from 2010.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
7. RE-OPENING TOWN CENTRE – WHITEHAVEN MARKETS 

Due to the global pandemic Covid-19, the Council took some immediate 
response decisions in March 2020 based on Government intervention and 
guidance issued in dealing with Coronavirus.  The Executive was asked to 
consider the implications of the future of Whitehaven Market and how this 
fits with easing of lockdown announced in June 2020. 

Decision

RESOLVED – that 
a) the proposal of a continued suspension of the Whitehaven twice 

weekly markets be supported, and
b) the collaboration of all relevant stakeholders to produce a 

Whitehaven Town Centre future proposal paper be supported.

Reason for Decision

In March 2020, the Council took some urgent actions in response to dealing
with the global outbreak of Coronavirus based on national Government
intervention and guidance, and, the impact this had on the borough of 
Copeland, and more locally the principle town of Whitehaven.

One of the measures taken in Whitehaven was to suspend the Town’s 
twice-weekly markets as this contravened the necessary imposed national 
lockdown and could not be compliant with social distancing restrictions that 
came into force. 

The Whitehaven market traders were informed immediately, by 19 March, 
of the decision taken.  The decision was well received and supported.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

Reintroduce the market, following the Government’s lifting of restrictions 
on markets being held, and continue in its current format with twice weekly 
frequency.

Sarah 
Pemberton, 
Director of 
Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial 
Strategy.

Page 4



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
8. OFF-STREET PARKING PLACES ORDER 2020

The Council’s car parking order has not been updated since 2002; the 
Executive holds constitutional decision making powers for approval and was 
sought to ensure the process was enacted appropriately under relevant 
governance.  

Decision

RESOLVED – that 
1) the draft new consolidated Copeland Borough Council (Off Street 

Parking Places) Order, attached as Appendix 1 to the agenda report, 
such order to be made under section 35 of the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984 be agreed;

2) the draft Order referred to in recommendation (1) of the agenda 
report be subject to statutory consultation as set out in the agenda 
report;

3) in the event of objections being received or amendments to the 
form of Order, attached as Appendix 1 to the agenda report being 
required, that the matter be referred back to the Executive for 
further consideration or in the event of no objections being received 
or amendments being required that the confirming and making of 
the Order, attached as Appendix 1 to the agenda report, be 
delegated to the Director of Corporate Services and Commercial 
Strategy in consultation with the Mayor; and

4) for the avoidance of doubt, upon confirmation and making of the 
new Order that the 2002 consolidated car parking order be revoked 
in accordance with paragraph 27 of schedule 9 to the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984. 

Reason for Decision

A new off-street parking places order was proposed to replace the existing 
order, which dates back to 2002. The new order, which provides the 
framework for the management, use and enforcement of the Council’s car 
parks is needed to reflect current parking requirements and changes in 
technology. The order provides the means of managing or restricting the 
use of both pay and display and non-chargeable car parks as well as land 
that is used for parking within the Council’s estate.  

Executive approval was necessary to enable the process and ensure the
procedure for the order that is required could commence.  The draft order 
and relevant schedules were appended as Appendix A to the agenda report.         

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Sarah 
Pemberton, 
Director of 
Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial 
Strategy.

Page 5



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
9. DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING:

Decision

It was noted that the next meeting of the Executive would be held on 
Tuesday 21 July 2020 at 10:00am. This will be a virtual meeting.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

The Meeting closed at 10:21am 

Mayor

Page 6



 
 

Executive 21 July 2020
MAYOR’S FORWARD PLAN AND WORK PLAN 

 
This Plan is published in accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012. It provides details of key decisions which the Executive will be making during the above period. 
 
A key decision is a decision made by the Mayor either by himself, through his Executive, by individual Executive members or by officers 
performing an Executive function and is one which either results in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which are significant 
(compared to the local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates) or is one which is significant in terms of its 
effects on communities living or working in an area comprising of two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area. The Council’s 
constitution states that ‘significant’ includes (a) any decision by the Executive in relation to proposed recommendations to Council to amend 
the policy framework; (b) any single item of expenditure or savings in excess of £50,000; or (c) any decision which is likely to have a 
permanent or long term (more than 5 years) effect on the Council or the Borough. 
 
A key decision cannot be made until at least 28 clear days has elapsed between publication of this document and the day the decision is made. 
An exception to this rule is where such publication of intention is impracticable. In those circumstances the period of 28 clear days may be 
reduced to 5 clear days provided that the chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been informed of the matter and shorter 
notice has been publicised. If 5 clear days cannot be given then a decision may only be made if the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee has agreed to the making of the decision on the grounds that the decision is urgent and cannot unreasonably be deferred. 
 
Where the decision maker is shown to be the Executive, the Executive will comprise of Mayor Mike Starkie and Councillors David Moore as 
Deputy Mayor, Michael McVeigh, Gwynneth Everett and Steven Morgan.
 
Copies of any document listed in the plan will be available from the officer shown in the table when the report is released, subject to them not 
containing confidential or exempt information. 
 

  

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 6



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Outside Bodies 
Annual Report

Council OSC 
6 August 2020

Council 
22 September 2020

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

No No

Annual Scrutiny 
Report

Council OSC 
6 August 2020

Council 
22 September 2020

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

No No

2020/21 Finance 
Report – Quarter 1 

Executive  Executive
25 August 2020            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources 

Yes No

Health and Safety 
Monitoring Half 
Yearly Report
  

Executive  Executive
25 August 2020

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive

No No

Anti-Money 
Laundering Policy

Executive Executive
25 August 2020 

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources

Yes No

P
age 8



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Fees and Charges in 
existing services

Executive  Executive
25 August 2020

Commercial Services
Cllr Steven Morgan

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

No No

Local Plan Preferred 
Options

Council Special Council
8 September 2020

Environment & Place
Cllr Michael McVeigh

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes No

Millom Hub Executive  OSC
6 August 2020
Executive 
15 September 2020         

Inclusive Communities
Cllr Gwynneth Everett

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

Beacon Update Executive  Executive 
15 September 2020   
        

Inclusive Communities
Cllr Gwynneth Everett

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

No No

Climate Action Plan Executive Executive 
15 September 2020 

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes Yes

Environment Policy

Council

Executive 
15 September 2020 

Council
22 September 2020

Environment and 
Place
Cllr Michael McVeigh

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes No

P
age 9



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Copeland 
Community Fund 

Council 22 September 2020 Mayor
Mike Starkie

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes No

ISH Council HOLD FOR DATE Mayor
Mike Starkie

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes Yes

GDF Council 22 September 2020 Mayor
Mike Starkie

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes Yes

2020/21 Council 
Performance Plan – 
Quarter 2

Executive Executive
10 November 2020

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

2020/21 Finance 
Report – Quarter 2 

Executive  Executive
10 November 2020            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources 

Yes No

Constitution – 
Financial Regulations

Council Council
15 December 2020

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

P
age 10



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Constitution 
Refresh/Update

Council Council
15 December 2020

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

Budget Consultation 
Outcome

Executive Executive
19 January 2021

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources

Yes No

Independent 
Remuneration Panel 
report

Council Council
February 2021

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

Draft Budget
(incl Amendments to 
Discretionary Relief 
Policy, Discount and 
Premium Policy, Pay 
Policy Statement)

Council

Executive
19 January 2021

OSC
12 January 2021

Council 
9 February 2021

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources

Yes No

Budget 
(incl Amendments to 
Discretionary Relief 

Council Council (Prov)
2 February 2021

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources

Yes No

P
age 11



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Policy, Discount and 
Premium Policy, Pay 
Policy Statement)

2020/21 Council 
Performance Plan – 
Quarter 3

Executive Executive
2 February 2021

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

2020/21 Finance 
Report – Quarter 3 

Executive  Executive
2 February 2021

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources 

Yes No

 

P
age 12



1

Executive 21 July 2020

CORPORATE STRATEGY 2016-2020 PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR 
 QUARTER FOUR OF 2019-20

EXECUTIVE MEMBER:  Cllr David Moore

LEAD OFFICER: Sarah Pemberton, 
Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy

REPORT AUTHOR: Gillian Butterworth, 
Performance and Risk Management Officer

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE? 
The Executive is responsible for managing the resources of the Council and 
seeking to ensure that best value through continuous improvement is 
embedded throughout all the Council’s business. 

 RECOMMENDATION:

a) Note progress made against the Corporate Strategy key deliverables and 
performance measured through Key Performance Indicators at the end of 
Quarter four of 2019/20

1.        INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Executive have monitored progress against the 2016-2020 
Corporate Strategy through quarterly reporting on the Corporate 
Strategy Delivery Plan (Corporate Plan) and a suite of Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs).

1.2 This report presents an overview of progress and performance for 
Quarter four of 2019/20.  The appendices to this report provide greater 
detail and analysis of key deliverables and KPIs over the last year and 
four year period.  Context and remedial actions are provided where 
these have not been fully achieved.  

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



2

2. PROGRESS AND PERFORMANCE DURING QUARTER FOUR OF 2019/20

2.1 The Corporate Plan 
The Corporate Plan set out twenty Key Deliverables that the Council 
aimed to achieve during 2019/20.  Each Key Deliverable was broken 
down into smaller sub-actions known as ‘Milestones’.

2.2 At the end of Quarter four, 14 out of 20 Key Deliverables were 
completed (70%).  This assessment is based on the number of 
milestones set and achieved for each deliverable.

The remaining six Key Deliverables were more than 50% complete and 
making good progress, but were paused or delayed in Quarter four due 
to the necessary reprioritisation for the council to deliver critical services  
and community support during the Covid19 pandemic.

2.3 Table 1 shows ‘at a glance’ the overall progress and completion of the 
Key Deliverables set for the year 2019/20.  Full details are listed in 
Appendix A

Table 1
Code Title Status Progress

KD 1 Pride of Place-Town Centre Regeneration Scheme  Completed

KD 2 Pride of Place public – Public Realm schemes  Completed

KD 3 High Street Fund  Completed

KD 4 Economic Vision for Copeland Delayed 
(Covid19)

KD 5 Community Led Housing Schemes  Completed

KD 6 Strategic Asset Management Plan   Delayed 
(Covid19)

KD 8 Commercial Infrastructure  Completed

KD 9 Beacon 5 year Business Plan  Overdue

Page 14



3

KD 10 SL Social Impact Plan Delayed 
(Covid19)

KD 11 Beacon Portal for Learning  Completed

KD 12 Work and Skills Programme  Completed

KD 13 Enterprise Initiatives   Delayed 
(Covid19)

KD 14 Domestic Abuse Prevention Project  Completed

KD 15 Copeland Health and Wellbeing Priorities  Completed

KD 16 Strategic Housing Offer  Completed

KD 17 Work Force Development Plan  Completed

KD 18 ICT Strategy  Completed

KD 19 Sustainable Financial Strategy   Delayed 
(Covid19)

KD 20 Bereavement Services Expansion Programme  Some 
rescheduling

KD 21 Accommodation Strategy  Completed

2.4 Key Performance Indicators 
The Council monitored twenty five Key Performance Indicators against 
the 2016-2020 Corporate Strategy.  

2.5 In Quarter four, 80% of KPIs were on target and all ‘corporately owned’ 
KPIs met their target.  

2.6 Where comparisons could be made 19 out of 24 KPIs performed as well 
as or better than the same quarter in 2018/19.  A further 2 KPIs did 
not perform as well as last year but did meet the target set for the year, 
the represents a combined 88%. 
(One KPI was new for the year so a comparison was not possible).

2.7 Table 2 shows ‘at a glance’ which KPIs met their quarterly targets. Full 
details and comparisons over the last 4 years are listed in Appendix B.

Page 15



4

Table 2

Corporately owned Performance Indicators Was 
quarterly 
target 
met?

KPI 2.1 Additional income generated through Commercial activity 

KPI 3.5 b_ Speed of processing - new CTR claims

KPI 3.1 % Non-domestic Rates Collected

KPI 3.5 a_ Speed of processing - new HB claims

KPI 3.6 a_ Speed of processing - changes of circumstances for HB claims

KPI 3.6 b_ Speed of processing - changes of circumstances for CTR claims

KPI 3.8 % Homeless relief cases resolved in statutory timeframe

KPI 3.9 Domestic Abuse Project – feedback and satisfaction

KPI 4.2 % Freedom of information requests resolved within timescale

KPI 5.1 % 'major' planning applications determined within 13 weeks

KPI 5.2 % 'minor' planning applications determined within 8 weeks

KPI 5.3 % 'other' applications determined within 8 weeks

KPI 5.4 % planning appeals dismissed

NON- corporately owned Performance Indicator

KPI 1.1 % Council Tax collected

KPI 1.2 Number empty homes <6months brought back into use

KPI 1.3 Number of new homes approved

KPI 1.4 Number of new homes built

KPI 1.5 Number of AFFORDABLE homes BUILT

KPI 1.6 Number of larger family and aspirational homes built

KPI 1.7 External funding for Economic Development Secured (£)

KPI 3.2 Number of people supported with employability and skills

KPI 4.1 % complaints resolved at stage one

KPI 4.3 a_ % Household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting  

KPI 4.3 b_ % Reduction in residual household waste

KPI 4.4b % Council TAX collected using Direct Debit payment method

Page 16



5

2.8 Data and trend monitoring
The Council monitored five additional performance trends that were 
relevant to the ambitions of the Corporate Strategy. Figures for Q4 of 
2019/20 were unavailable at the time of reporting and will be included 
in subsequent performance reporting when possible.
Number of empty business premises within the borough.
Number of new businesses within the borough
Number of repeat homelessness case in 2 years
Number of homelessness cases where Welfare Reform is a factor.
Number of Domestic Violence Incidents with a repeat victim.

3.0 CONCLUSIONS

3.1 The Quarter four out-turn position is,
 A combined 70% of Key Deliverables were completed at the end of 

the quarter.  All other Key Deliverables were partially completed and 
making good progress prior to the evoking of the Councils Business 
Continuity Plan in response to the Covid19 pandemic.

 80% of KPIs met their target for the end of Quarter four.
 88% of comparable KPIs exceeded target and or improved or 

maintained performance compared to the same quarter last year.

4.          STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

4.1 Legal comments are: No legal issues arise from this report

4.2 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: This report provides a progress 
update to the Executive on key deliverables arising from the Corporate 
Strategy. There has been some interruption to achievement and 
reporting due to the suspension of business as usual in March whilst the 
Council was responding to the declared emergency of the global 
pandemic. Any legal issues arising from any individual key deliverables 
will be dealt with as appropriate. 

4.3 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: Contained within the report
The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, 2019/20 Budget and 
Capital Plan underpins the 2016-2020 Corporate Strategy

Page 17



6

4.4 EIA Comments:  The Corporate Strategy and Service Plans against which 
performance is measured have undergone Equality Impact Assessments.  
Individual projects and partnership delivery against the Corporate 
Delivery Plan are subject to provide EIAs.

4.5 Policy Framework:  Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules as set 
down in the Council’s Constitution. This report directly reports on the 
delivery of the Corporate Strategy and associated documents.

4.6 Other consultee comments, if any:

5.  APPENDICIES

Appendix A - Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan Report for Q4 of 2019/20

Appendix B - Key Performance Indicator Report for Q4 of 2019/20

Page 18



Appendix A

1

KD 1 Pride of Place-Town Centre Regeneration Scheme

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q1 Establish funding committed/ 
available going forward

Facelift grant process paused to 
ascertain available budget for potential 
re-use grants.

Q2 Agreed Final Year programme Final year programme agreed

Q3 Deliver agreed programme Last of buildings completing this 
financial year

Pride of Place Town 
Centre Regeneration 
Scheme
Within the Pride of Place, 
focus on our population 
centres to work with 
others to increase the use 
of currently empty 
buildings and encourage 
greater occupation of 
current derelict shop 
buildings.

Q4 Annual review The Building Grants scheme has 
continued to deliver across the Borough 
and we have now
Awarded 113 building grants, totalling 
£318,658. Of those awarded 103 are 
now complete,
with the Council paying out £281,289 in 
grants across our borough, attracting 
over £449,403
in private match funds.

Corporate Strategy Key Deliverables – Progress made in Q4 of 2019/20

P
age 19



Appendix A

2

KD 2 Pride of Place public – Public Realm schemes

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note
Overall Progress 
of Key 
Deliverable

Q2 Agreed Public Realm 
schemes for 4 towns

Areas agreed, detailed designs 
being drawn up, although 
Whitehaven and Cleator Moor 
delayed to fit with Future High 
Street Fund and HAZ timescales.

Q4 Complete Cleator 
Moor public realm 
scheme

The scheme for Cleator Moor 
continues to be
discussed and agreed with the 
Town Council and Regen NE 
Copeland for implementation
During 2020. Millom and Egremont 
have asked to revisit their schemes 
linked to their
Potential for Towns Fund and 
Borderlands.

Complete the improvements to public 
realm within our four key towns as 
part of the Pride of Place Initiative 
including a focus on quality street 
cleaning and enforcement activity to 
deliver high quality street scape

Q4 Complete 
Whitehaven public 
realm scheme

Whitehaven public Realm Scheme 
timeframe and composition in line 
with FHSF bid June 2020.

P
age 20



Appendix A

3

KD 3 High Street Fund

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q1 Agreed Whitehaven Vision EOI submitted with agreed vision.  
Successful and invited to develop 
business case for submission in Jan 
2020.

Q2 Q2 – Agreed Town Centre 
priorities in readiness for 
funding applications

Overview of priorities in place, with 
testing against deliverability and 
business case underway

Q4 Draft submission and feedback 
on progress of funding 
applications

Draft submission of outline business 
case now 15th Jan, with feedback 
anticipated by mid-March

High Street Fund
Stronger Towns Fund
LEP Engagement
To work on the future role 
of Town Centres to 
identify additional 
resources and partners to 
engage in developments 
bespoke to each of our 
towns.
All efforts will be made 
through partnership 
activity to identify and use 
external funding to 
maintain momentum on 
town centre improvement 
activity under the CPoP 
initiative

Q4 Preparation of delivery plans 
2021

Plans submitted June 2020
We submitted our draft Business Case 
for FHSF to MHCLG in January and in 
March received
Additional guidance and feedback to 
help us steer our final submission due 
by 5th June 2020.
The programme for Whitehaven is 

P
age 21



Appendix A

4

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

intended to transform the core of the 
town centre with a
Focus on King Street and its links with 
the harbour. The projects are grouped 
under two key
themes “Connecting Whitehaven” 
which will reshape Whitehaven and 
improve the
experience of visiting the town; and 
“Diversifying Whitehaven”, which 
renews the high street
With new uses to drive growth and 
ensure future sustainability.
 

P
age 22



Appendix A

5

KD 4 Economic Vision for Copeland

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q1 Q1 – Review of existing 
evidence and drivers

ARUP commissioned. Work 
commenced and phase 1, to review 
existing evidence and drivers, 
completed.

Q3 Socialisation with partners and 
approval

The stakeholder engagement 
programme is almost complete and an 
early draft is being taken to FOG in 
November.
Members briefing planned for Q4 
however this was paused due to 
Covid19 pandemic.
 

Produce a new Economic 
Vision for Copeland (with 
masterplan) on behalf of 
the Future Opportunities 
Group.

Q4 Implementation of framework
some 
reschedu
ling

Socialisation of framework paused due 
to Covid19 pandemic.  Vision for 
Copeland to be rewritten to include 
post Covid environment and 
considerations. Outline timeframe is Q2 
20-21.

P
age 23

https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=Q1ZoF7Fe&id=DEA3B319767B80B5DEF18E943BFF92F7462FB84C&thid=OIP.Q1ZoF7FecWCSVG1pUHV0ngHaHa&mediaurl=https%3a%2f%2fcdn.pixabay.com%2fphoto%2f2014%2f01%2f29%2f05%2f46%2fright-254091_960_720.png&exph=720&expw=720&q=amber+right+pointing+arrow&simid=607994448624093615&selectedIndex=0


Appendix A

6

KD 5 Community Led Housing Schemes

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q1 Q1 - Identification of potential 
new projects

identified key project for CLH is about 
bringing empty homes back into use 
and working group now working to 
explore options

Q2 Business Plans for new 
schemes to Advisory group.

BPs for that period of time were 
submitted and grants supported e.g. 
Distington and Ulpha.

Q3 Q3 - Award funds and project 
milestones agreed – work with 
Homes England and partners to 
draw down funds

Small grant awarded to DBL to assist 
with postal survey. Have discussed 
change to contract with Homes England 
to use funds allocated for empty homes 
community project but funds have not 
yet been drawn down as are claimed in 
arrears

KEY DELIVERABLE 5
Use and maximise the 
Council’s community led 
housing approach and 
fund to impact our Town 
Centres and mitigate for 
any negative impacts of 
second and empty homes
 
Community Led Housing 
Schemes
Identify, develop and 
deliver a number of small 
Community Led Housing 
Schemes (2)
 Q4 Advisory group oversee 

delivery against milestones
Advisory group has continued to meet 
and oversee budget. New group 
interest in Millom to be progressed in 
2020 with drawdown from HE funding, 
but progress delayed to due Covid19.

P
age 24



Appendix A

7

KD 6 Strategic Asset Management Plan

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q1 Strategic Asset Management 
Plan (SAM) - Review of existing 
assets.

The strategic assets available for CAT 
have been reviewed within the full 
asset list.  Other asset categories are 
still in review.

Q2 Sports Centre Development 
Whitehaven Sport Strategy and 
deliverables agreed.

Procurement exercise carried out and 
tender awarded for production of 
Sports Strategy and deliverables.

Q2 Revised SAM Plan agreed. Agreed by Executive September 19 - 
referred to Full Council for adoption

Q3 Implementation of SAM Plan Working to Asset Management Plan  

KEY DELIVERABLE 6
To agree a Strategic Asset 
Management Plan to 
facilitate growth in the 
borough and generate 
investment opportunities 
in the borough.
 
-Asset Management Plan
-Sports Centre 
Development 
-Castle Park Management 
Plan
 

Q4 Castle Park Management Plan 
agreed partial

 Baseline quality assessment completed 
against Green Flag Standard

Park User Survey undertaken 

Love Parks Week Event held to 
promote the park, engage local 
residents and stakeholders, and 

P
age 25

https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=Q1ZoF7Fe&id=DEA3B319767B80B5DEF18E943BFF92F7462FB84C&thid=OIP.Q1ZoF7FecWCSVG1pUHV0ngHaHa&mediaurl=https%3a%2f%2fcdn.pixabay.com%2fphoto%2f2014%2f01%2f29%2f05%2f46%2fright-254091_960_720.png&exph=720&expw=720&q=amber+right+pointing+arrow&simid=607994448624093615&selectedIndex=0


Appendix A

8

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

support corporate health & wellbeing 
objectives

Tree pruning works completed and 
felling / crown lifting works to 
completed by end of March

Trading position advertised and 
awaiting notes of interests 

Draft management plan prepared - 
pending next steps

Overall good foundations work and 
progress made however this was  
paused in Q4 due to Business 
Continuity Plan taking priority during 
Covid 19 pandemic

Q4 Sports Centre Development 
Completion of Sports Centre 
Development

delayed
 Progress paused due to Covid 19 
pandemic and Business Continuity Plan 
taking priority. 

P
age 26

https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=Q1ZoF7Fe&id=DEA3B319767B80B5DEF18E943BFF92F7462FB84C&thid=OIP.Q1ZoF7FecWCSVG1pUHV0ngHaHa&mediaurl=https%3a%2f%2fcdn.pixabay.com%2fphoto%2f2014%2f01%2f29%2f05%2f46%2fright-254091_960_720.png&exph=720&expw=720&q=amber+right+pointing+arrow&simid=607994448624093615&selectedIndex=0


Appendix A

9

KD 8 Commercial Infrastructure

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q1 Formalisation of Commercial 
priorities and review of current 
operational commercial activity 

Draft Commercial Strategy approved by 
CLT and on Exec agenda 19th August
Council has given approval for 
restructure to recruit a Head of 
Commercial Services position (Q2)

Q2 Assess opportunities for 
commercial investment and 
diversification in other trading 
and non-trading and 
commercial activates.

Commercial engagement group 
established with governance 
arrangements and structure in place. 
Inaugural meeting scheduled for Q3 for 
initial appraisal of commercial leads 
and opportunities.

Q2 Extract cost savings achieved 
through procurement and 
contract mgmt.

Ongoing monitoring and reporting now 
in place to capture cost savings made 
on renewal of contracts

Commercial 
Infrastructure
To continue to operate 
existing key trade services 
on a commercial basis 
with regards to value for 
money, quality and 
competitiveness.
Improve our commercial 
infrastructure to support 
potential for commercial 
activity and support 
increased income.

Q4 Commercialisation of website 
and use of customer portal.

Website refit completed.  Customer’s 
able to make payments and purchases 
of both statutory and commercial 
services offered. 

P
age 27



Appendix A

10

KD 9 Beacon 5 year Business Plan

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Beacon 5 year Business 
Plan
To agree and implement 
second five year 
collaborative commercial 
business plan for the 
Beacon Museum (2019-
2024)

Q4 5 year business plan agreed 
and in place. Based on a Trust 
model which maximises 
benefits regarding NNDR.

partial
Ongoing steering group recognition and 
planning with staff and key partners to 
ensure draft picks up all new 
requirements.  Working with LGA to 
finalise in Q3 20/21P

age 28

https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=Q1ZoF7Fe&id=DEA3B319767B80B5DEF18E943BFF92F7462FB84C&thid=OIP.Q1ZoF7FecWCSVG1pUHV0ngHaHa&mediaurl=https%3a%2f%2fcdn.pixabay.com%2fphoto%2f2014%2f01%2f29%2f05%2f46%2fright-254091_960_720.png&exph=720&expw=720&q=amber+right+pointing+arrow&simid=607994448624093615&selectedIndex=0


Appendix A

11

KD 10 SL Social Impact Plan

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q3 Grant arrangements and 
Annual Programme Agreed

Annual Social Impact Plan grant 
received against agreed action plan for 
19-20

To agree social value 
programme with our 
industrial partners
Sellafield Social Impact 
Plan alignment with 
Council’s Corporate 
Priorities.
TOMS (SL Social Impact 
Themes, Outcomes and 
Measures TOMs)
 

Q4 TOMS Framework in-place and 
adopted by the Council in 
relation to community benefits 
plans

delayed
Work still progressing with SL. Impacted 
by Covid 19P

age 29

https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=Q1ZoF7Fe&id=DEA3B319767B80B5DEF18E943BFF92F7462FB84C&thid=OIP.Q1ZoF7FecWCSVG1pUHV0ngHaHa&mediaurl=https%3a%2f%2fcdn.pixabay.com%2fphoto%2f2014%2f01%2f29%2f05%2f46%2fright-254091_960_720.png&exph=720&expw=720&q=amber+right+pointing+arrow&simid=607994448624093615&selectedIndex=0


Appendix A

12

KD 11 Beacon Portal for Learning

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q1 Education Programme for 
2019/20 agreed and 
implemented

Learning programme has been set up to 
end December 2019.  Jan to March 
2020 will be arranged in winter term 
(Oct to Dec 2019

Q2 Delivery of Summer 
programme

Successful delivery with positive 
feedback received.

Q3 Virtual Museum Learning 
Initiative

Contractor commissioned for phase one 
of virtual Beacon Museum.
Expansion of Quantum Leap delivery 
product to be planned for March 2020

Maintain the Beacon 
education and learning 
approach for schools and 
lifelong learning for 
residents and visitors and 
the importance of arts, 
culture and creative 
thinking and skills to 
underpin wellbeing and 
STEAM (science, 
technology, engineering 
arts and maths).
Beacon Portal for 
Learning - Using the 
Beacon Portal as a Portal 
for Learning and 
maintaining the education 
programme with schools

Q4 Development of 2020/21 
programme.

Learning programme for 20/21 
developed. Beacon closed to public and 
programme paused due to Covid19 
Pandemic.

P
age 30



Appendix A

13

KD 12 Work and Skills Programme

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q1 Q1- Funding application for 
new Work and Skills 
Partnership Programme

SL funding secured.  CCF funding 
application submitted.

Q2 Q2 – Design and 
implementation of new Work 
and Skills Programme

 

Work and Skills 
Programme 
Ensure we sustain and 
develop our leadership 
and facilitation of the 
Copeland Work and Skills 
Partnership and its 
continuously developing 
programme of 
complementary 
partnership delivery to 
meet the known gaps in 
service to assist Copeland 
residents develop skills 
and access work 
opportunities.

Q4 Q4 – Annual review. Annual review presented to full Council 
as part of Mayors Report in May 2020

P
age 31



Appendix A

14

KD 13 Enterprise Initiatives

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q3 To agree a programme based 
approach and recruit or 
procure delivery resource.

Commissioned CRED to support 
development of programme and multi-
agency steering group set up for the 
project.

KEY DELIVERABLE 13 
Working in partnership to 
facilitate innovation, 
entrepreneurialism and 
new enterprises.
 
Establish joint programme 
with range of partners to 
drive a package of 
enterprise initiatives, 
supporting sector 
development.

Q4 Agreed priorities/ projects in 3 
year plan and project 
measures. Implement, monitor 
and review

Delayed
 Delayed due to Covid pandemic

P
age 32

https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=Q1ZoF7Fe&id=DEA3B319767B80B5DEF18E943BFF92F7462FB84C&thid=OIP.Q1ZoF7FecWCSVG1pUHV0ngHaHa&mediaurl=https%3a%2f%2fcdn.pixabay.com%2fphoto%2f2014%2f01%2f29%2f05%2f46%2fright-254091_960_720.png&exph=720&expw=720&q=amber+right+pointing+arrow&simid=607994448624093615&selectedIndex=0


Appendix A

15

KD 14 Domestic Abuse Prevention Project

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q1 Q1 - 1 additional unit into use 
& deliver outreach services 
from new women’s centre.

Additional unit now secured, totalling 
three units and women’s centre opened 
in July 2019

Q2 Q2 Improve networking and 
partnership holistic approach 
through women’s centre

Sessions were held to identify 
appropriate sessions for partner 
agencies to maximise holistic approach 
for client. Manager has been recruited 
and is now in post and will raise the 
profile of the centre and improve the 
offer. 

Q3 Q3 - Funding bid from any 
external resources available

Funding successfully secured from 
Copeland Community Fund to cover 
officer for three years Jan 2020 to Dec 
2022. Funding from County Council to 
continue into next financial year. 

KEY DELIVERABLE 14
Tackle domestic abuse & 
other exploitations 
through our domestic 
abuse project aimed at 
victims and residents at 
risk.
 
Domestic Abuse Project
Bid for and secure funding 
to continue project 
delivery. Supporting 
residents experiencing or 
at risk of Domestic Abuse.

Q4 Q4 - Extend Project formally – 
dependent on above

New project started Jan 2020 to run to 
Dec 2022

P
age 33



Appendix A

16

KD 15 Copeland Health and Wellbeing Priorities

Action Description Q Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q1 Agreed plan for 
Copeland Health and 
Wellbeing Forum in 
response to Cumbria 
Public Health Strategy

CBC and the Copeland HWB Forum have fully 
engaged in the strategy and implementation 
action plan.  The Copeland actions integrated 
into implementation plan.

Q2 Develop and initiate 
priority projects against 
three priority themes

Funding awarded through CCF for Social 
Prescribing Project.
Healthy Weigh Project being delivered in 
partnership through GLL contract.
Empty Homes Strategy agreed in support of 
Healthy Towns and Places.

Q3 Project monitoring Social Prescriptions funding confirmed and team 
recruitment started. 
Health weight deliverables via out GLL contract.
ICC and GPs have established a team to work 
with professional medical /care provision to 
promote effective cross sector working.

Copeland Health and 
Wellbeing Priorities
KEY DELIVERABLE 15
To be a strong partner in 
the Copeland Health and 
Wellbeing Forum and 
demonstrate our essential 
role in supporting the 
Health and Wellbeing of 
our residents.

Key Projects
• Healthy Weight Project 
• Social Prescribing 
Project 
• Healthy Towns And 
Places Project 

Q4 Q4 – Annual review of 
projects.

Annual report to Executive 16th March 2020

P
age 34



Appendix A

17

KD 16 Strategic Housing Offer

Action Description Q Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q1 Approval Housing 
Strategy and Action 
Plan.

Housing Strategy approved by Full Council and action 
plan still with Director of Growth and Inclusive 
Communities for final approval

Q3 Implementation of 
the Housing Strategy 
Action Plan.

Strategy been approved by full council, action plan 
currently being socialised and refined in line with new 
strategy

KEY DELIVERABLE 16
Ensure that our 
housing offer meets 
the need of residents
Extra Care (Housing 
Proposals)
Better Care Fund
Planning Permission 
Local Plan and KPIs
DFGs

Q4 Review of Housing 
needs and DFG 
provision.

Housing Needs Survey commissioned and final report 
due back July 2020 (delayed due to COVID). Housing 
Renewals team restructured to put a team leader in 
place to manage team and oversee DFG delivery and 
performance. Approval granted By Exec in March 2020 
to raise discretionary limit on DFGs from £5k to £10k 
where full cost is over £30k; conduct a means test for 
child cases where cost is over £30k and to apply a 5% 
management charge to all grants to cover 
administration costs. 

P
age 35



Appendix A

18

KD 17 Work Force Development Plan

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q2 Q2 – Workforce Review Workforce Review complete and 
Strategy in Draft.  To gain approval at 
CLT, Personnel Panel and Executive.

Q3 Work Force Development Plan 
agreed & in place.

 

KEY DELIVERABLE 17
Implementing our new 
ten-year Workforce 
Development Plan with its 
focus on quality training 
and succession planning 
and our commitment to 
be an employer of choice 
in our local area.
Work Force Development 
Plan
Approval and 
implementation of the 
year 1 action plan for 
work force development

Q4 Q4 – Monitoring and review 
of action plan.

Workforce plan and monitoring by CLT 
in place. 

P
age 36



Appendix A

19

KD 18 ICT Strategy

Action Description Q Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q3 ICT Strategy - Final 
draft agreed

[1-JAN] Draft ICT Strategy was circulated to CLT for 
review at end of NOV-2019. Awaiting formal CLT 
review session.
ICT Strategy put back to Q3 due to prioritisation in 
Q1 and Q2 on PSN achievement of PSN Compliance 
and staff restructuring.
ICT Strategy is in process of being drafted. Key 
research into hosted and cloud options has been 
underway to consider IT architecture options for 
future platforms.
IDOX project in contractual dispute. Priorities 
informed by new ICT Strategy.

KEY DELIVERABLE 18
Deliver the 
implementation plan of 
our ICT strategy
 
Approval and 
implementation of
ICT Strategy.
Digital Portals
Website
IDOX

Q4 ICT Programme Plan 
agreed and 
implemented

A draft action plan was delayed due to the BCP 
operating for Covid.
Plan implementation resumed in Q2 20/21.  
Implementation of a number of elements have 
already started to action as a direct consequence of 
the changes forced upon us by the coronavirus 
response.

P
age 37



Appendix A

20

KD 19 Sustainable Financial Strategy

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q3 Q2 - Develop and draft 
Financially sustainable options 
for sustainable Long Term 
Financial Strategy, Capital 
Programme for discussion with 
the Executive.

Finance update provided to the 
September Executive. Working with the 
Mayor on his budget to present to the 
Executive in January 2020 and 
approved by Council in Feb.

To Develop a financially 
sustainable Medium Term 
Financial Strategy for 
2020/21-2023/24
Capital Programme and 
Treasury Management 
Strategy. Q4 Respond to any Fair Funding or 

Business Rates technical 
consultations and lobby 
Government setting out the 
clear financial case for 
improved funding for CBC.

Completed as far as possible by CBC. 
Review paused by Central Government 
due to Covid19 pandemic.

P
age 38



Appendix A

21

KD 20 Bereavement Services Expansion Programme

Action Description Q Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q1 Planning permission for 
refurbishment of 
Crematorium and 
Installation of second 
cremator commenced.

Planning application submitted 
Installation of second cremator completed in July 
2019.

Q2 Installation of second 
cremator completed. 
Whitehaven Cemetery 
expansion plans for 
decision.

Installation of new second cremator now 
completed and operational Executive Report on 
expansion plans for Whitehaven Cemetery 
completed with input from CLT and due to be 
considered and approved by Executive on 7 
October – funding already approved and within 
2019/20 Capital Programme

KEY DELIVERABLE 20
To deliver the investment 
and development of our 
Bereavement Services.
 
Bereavement Services 
Expansion Programme
Refurbishment of the 
Crematorium, installation 
of second cremator and 
expansion of Whitehaven 
Cemetery

Q4 Refurbishment of 
Crematorium 
completed

some 
rescheduling

Current programme suspended due to 
Coronavirus pandemic.  A refreshed programme 
of building improvements being prepared to 
align with new building survey

P
age 39

https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=Q1ZoF7Fe&id=DEA3B319767B80B5DEF18E943BFF92F7462FB84C&thid=OIP.Q1ZoF7FecWCSVG1pUHV0ngHaHa&mediaurl=https%3a%2f%2fcdn.pixabay.com%2fphoto%2f2014%2f01%2f29%2f05%2f46%2fright-254091_960_720.png&exph=720&expw=720&q=amber+right+pointing+arrow&simid=607994448624093615&selectedIndex=0


Appendix A

22

KD 21 Accommodation Strategy

Action Description Quarter Milestone Outcome Note

Overall 
Progress of 
Key 
Deliverable

Q2 Q2 Accommodations Strategy 
milestones met

PFI termination planned for Q4Deliver the councils 
accommodation strategy 
to ensure CBC 
accommodation is fit for 
purpose and affordable.

Q4 Q4 Accommodations Strategy 
milestones met

At the end of March 2020 the Copeland 
Building became part of the Copeland 
Borough Council Estate.  Work on 
building renovations planned to 
commence in Q1 2020
 

 

P
age 40



Appendix A

23

Code Title Status Progress

KD 1 Pride of Place-Town Centre Regeneration Scheme  Completed

KD 2 Pride of Place public – Public Realm schemes  Completed

KD 3 High Street Fund  Completed

KD 4 Economic Vision for Copeland Delayed (Covid19)

KD 5 Community Led Housing Schemes  Completed

KD 6 Strategic Asset Management Plan   Delayed (Covid19)

KD 8 Commercial Infrastructure  Completed

KD 9 Beacon 5 year Business Plan  Overdue

KD 10 SL Social Impact Plan Delayed (Covid19)

KD 11 Beacon Portal for Learning  Completed

KD 12 Work and Skills Programme  Completed

KD 13 Enterprise Initiatives   Delayed (Covid19)

KD 14 Domestic Abuse Prevention Project  Completed

KD 15 Copeland Health and Wellbeing Priorities  Completed

KD 16 Strategic Housing Offer  Completed

KD 17 Work Force Development Plan  Completed

KD 18 ICT Strategy  Completed

KD 19 Sustainable Financial Strategy   Delayed (Covid19)

KD 20 Bereavement Services Expansion Programme  Some rescheduling

KD 21 Accommodation Strategy  Completed

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B

Key Performance Indicators – 2016 – 2020

KPI 1.1 Percentage of Council Tax collected

Comment:
The slight reduction in collection rates in 2017/18 were due to 
the impact of the cyber-attack. 

In 2019/20 the Council achieved an ‘in year collection rate’ of 
97.15%, this is above the target set for the year (locally) and 
above the national average ‘in year collection rate’ of 96.8%.

Did the 
KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 
compared 

to previous 
year

2016/17 97.70% 97.77% -.73%

2017/18 98.30% 94.49% -3.81%

2018/19 95.00% 97.05% 2.05%

2019/20 95.00% 97.15% 2.15%P
age 43



Appendix B

KPI 1.2 Number empty homes <6months brought back into use.

This KPI was introduced in 2017. 
84 homes were brought back into use across Copeland up to 
Q3 in 2019/20, bringing the total 195 homes over the three 
year period.
Figures for Q4 2019/20 are not available at the time of 
reporting due to prioritisation of critical service delivery and 
community resilience amidst the Covid 19 pandemic, however 
84 homes brought back into use is well above the target set for 
the year and shows a 133% increase on the number achieved in 
2017/18.

Did the 
KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 
compared to 
previous year

2017/18 35 36 1

2018/19 35 75 40

2019/20 50 84 34

P
age 44



Appendix B

KPI 1.3  Number of new homes approved

Total new homes approved in 2019/20 is 280 against an 
annual target of 300, this is a provisional figure at the time 
of reporting.
If combined, a total of 1201 new homes were approved in 
Copeland across the three year period of 2017 to 2020, this 
is 371 more than the combined target, across the three 
years, of 830. 
Note: figure is gross and therefore includes both new builds 
and change of use e.g. a larger home that is split into two.

Did the 
KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 
compared 

to 
previous 

year

2017/18 230 478 248

2018/19 300 443 143

2019/20 300 280 -20

P
age 45



Appendix B

KPI 1.4  Number of new homes built
Total of 512 new home completed in the period 2016-2020.  Planning permission has been granted for more homes than 
have been built. Council officers have worked to attract new developers into the borough and build on these sites.  It is 
expected that in the next few years these new house builders will start to build in the borough.
The target for 2020/21 will be to 140 new home built, this is based on the Copeland Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment that was carried out in 2019.

Did the 
KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual
Value 

vs 
Target

Trend 
compared 

to previous 
year

2016/17 230 129 -101

2017/18 230 112 -118

2018/19 300 120 -180

2019/20 300 151 -149

P
age 46



Appendix B

KPI 1.5 Number of affordable homes built
This KPI is dependent upon external agents or their actions.  54 affordable homes were approved in 2018/19 so it is 
expected that those will progress to being built over the next couple of years.

Note: Affordable homes APPROVED 16/17=12, 17/18=2, 
18/19=54, 19/20=0

Did the 
KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 
compared 

to 
previous 

year

2016/17 35 4 -31

2017/18 35 17 -18

2018/19 45 0 -45

2019/20 45 4 -41

P
age 47



Appendix B

KPI 1.6  Number of larger family and aspirational homes built

A total of 222 larger family home were built in the period 2016-
2020.  
67 larger family and aspirational homes built in 2019/20 is 22 
more than the target and represents an increase of 294% on 
the number built in 2016/17 (17)

Did the 
KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 
compared 
to 
previous 
year

2016/17 35 17 -18

2017/18 35 43 8

2018/19 45 45 0

2019/20 45 67 22P
age 48



Appendix B

KPI 1.7 External funding for Economic Development Secured

Since 2017/18 £10,498,737.00 external funding has been secured 
for the economic development of the Copeland.  This has been 
secured through many channels including the LEP Growth Deal, 
Well Whitehaven Programme, Coastal Development Fund, Work 
and Skills Partnership, Copeland Pride of Place Public Realms 
Scheme, Copeland Pride Of Place Keeping Copeland Clean, 
Cumbria’s Hidden Coast, Tourism Development, Enterprise 
Development, Beacon Virtual Museum.

Did the 
KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 
compared 
to 
previous 
year

2017/18 £750000.00 £5050000.00 £4300000.00

2018/19 £500000.00 £2863828.00 £2363828.00

2019/20 £500000.00 £2584909.00 £2084909.00

 

P
age 49



Appendix B

KPI 2.1 Additional income generated through Commercial activity

Did 
the KPI 

hit 
target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 
compared 

to 
previous 

year

2017/18 £139000.00 £43104.00 -£95896.00

2018/19 £139000.00 £110938.00 -£28062.00

2019/20 £139000.00

KPI 2.1 Additional income generated through Commercial activity
This was an early year’s commercial target introduced in 2017/18 which shows the net increase in income of 6 cost 
centres, namely Trade Waste, Advertising and Sponsorship, Parks Parishes and Small Works, Markets and Car Parks.   The 
target was set and remained at £139000.00 throughout the period 2017/18 to 2019/20.  At the time of reporting the it is 
annual outturn for these cost centres is not available due to impact of the covid19 pandemic on officer time, however it is 
expected that the £139000 target has been met through the listed cost centres and increased income from our expanded 
Bereavement Services offer.  Any other anticipated or known loss of commercial income as a result of the pandemic has 
been highlighted in financial returns to MHCLG.
 
Over the period 2016/17 and 2019/20 much has been achieved towards our ambition to become a commercial council, 
starting with the recruitment of key and specialised lead officers and the refresh and launch of the Commercial Strategy.  
There has been a focus on embedding a commercial culture across the whole organisation including identifying 
commercial opportunities, partnership delivery and cost savings as part of the annual service planning process.   
Commercial culture and behaviours has been reinforced with a focus on increased productivity through the 5 Ps 

P
age 50



Appendix B

Personnel Development Programme, and a proactive approach to achieving contact savings via the Contract 
Management and Procurement Strategy.   Officers and Members have attended training provided by CIPFA on creating a 
commercial culture, commercial delivery models and risk management. The ‘my bright ideas’ commercial suggestions 
schemes and monthly commercial newsletter were launched and a number of cost saving, process efficiency and income 
generating ideas were submitted by officer and members. The Commercial Engagement Group and Board were 
established and governance arrangements put in place and prior to the Covid19 pandemic a number of business cases 
were being reviewed. 
During the period 2016-2020 commercial activity has also been increase through improved digital payment options on 
our website, expansion of our Trade Waste customer base, progression of the Bereavement Services Investment 
programme and the launched a Pest Control Service. Opportunity for shared service procurement and delivery are also 
being explored.

P
age 51



Appendix B

KPI 3.1 Percentage of Non-domestic Rates Collected.
In 2019/20 the council  achieved an ‘in year collection rate of 99.2% of, this was above our target of 98.7% and above the 
national average for all local authorities which was 98%

Did the 
KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 
compared 
to 
previous 
year

2016/17 30.39%

2017/18 99.30% 98.68% -.62%

2018/19 98.70% 89.19% -9.51%

2019/20 98.70% 99.20% .50%

KPI 3.2 Local people supported with employability and skills 

Did the KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual Value vs Target

2019/20 65 83 18

P
age 52



Appendix B

KPI 3.5 a_ Speed of processing new Housing Benefit claims  

The average time taken to process a new Housing Benefit claim for 
during quarter Q4 of 2019/20 was 8.71 days, this is a reduction of 15 
days from the 2016/17 figure.  This is also 8 days quicker than the 
national average for all local authorities which was 16 calendar days in 
2019/20

Did the KPI 
hit target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 
compared 

to previous 
year

2016/17 20 23.66 3.66

2017/18 22 37.3 15.3

2018/19 22 20.42 -1.58

2019/20 18 8.71 -9.29

P
age 53



Appendix B

KPI 3.5 b_ Speed of processing - new CTR claims

The average time taken to process and new Council Tax 
reduction claim was 17.12 days in Q4 of 2019/29, this is a 
below the current target of 18 days and a significant reduction 
from 37 days in 2017/18 when processing times were impacted 
greatly by the cyber-attack.  

Did the 
KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 
compare
d to 
previous 
year

2016/17 20 23.66 3.66

2017/18 22 37.3 15.3

2018/19 22 27.39 5.39

2019/20 18 17.12 -0.88

P
age 54



Appendix B

KPI 3.6 a_ Speed of processing - changes of circumstances for HB claims

Did the 
KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 
compared 
to 
previous 
year

2016/17 10 9.31 -0.69

2017/18 10 22.61 12.61

2018/19 10 7.84 -2.16

2019/20 10 3.26 -6.74

The average time taken to process a housing benefits change 
of circumstances at the end of Q4 2019/20 was 3.26 days, this 
is below the target of 10 days, and below the national average 
for all local authorities which was 6 days in 2019/20.  

As a result of the cyber-attack and welfare reforms in 2017/18 
the time to process housing benefits change of circumstances 
reached a high of 22 days, current processing times represent a 
reduction of 19 days.

P
age 55



Appendix B

KPI 3.6 b_ Speed of processing - changes of circumstances for Council Tax Reduction claims

Current speed of processing for changes of circumstances for 
Council Tax Reduction claims is 6.11 days, this is below target 
and the lowest it has been since 2016/17

As a result of the cyber-attack and welfare reforms in 2017/18 
the time to process changes of circumstances for Council Tax 
Reduction claims reached a high of 22 days, current processing 
times represent a reduction of 16 days.

Did the KPI 
hit target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend compared 
to previous year

2016/17 10 9.31 -0.69

2017/18 10 22.61 12.61

2018/19 10 10.52 0.52

2019/20 10 6.11 -3.89

P
age 56



Appendix B

KPI 3.9 Domestic Abuse Project

This project offers support and signposting for people 
experiencing domestic violence and abuse.  Working discretely 
with clients and closely with other support organisations.  
In 2019/20 100% of those that engaged with the service said 
they were glad that they did and gain appropriate advice and 
support.

Did the KPI 
hit target

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 

2018/19 95:% 99:% 4:%

2019/20 90:% 100:% 10:%

KPI 3.8 Homeless relief cases

% of homeless relief cases resolved within target timeframe of 
56 days was introduced as a statutory measure following the 
introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.  Figures 
at the end of Q4 2019/20 show that homelessness duty is 
carried out within the statutory 52 days in 92.8% of cases, this 
is below the above the target of 90%

Did the KPI 
hit target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 

2018/19 90% 91.9% 1.9%

2019/20 90% 92.8% 2.8%

P
age 57



Appendix B

KPI 4.1 Percentage of complaints resolved at stage one  

95% of complaints were resolved at stage 1 in 
2019/20, this is above the target of 90% and has 
been consistently so since 2017/28

Did the 
KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual Value 
vs 
Target

Trend 

2016/17 90.00% 89.50% -.50%

2017/18 90.00% 92.00% 2.00%

2018/19 90.00% 96.25% 6.25%

2019/20 90.00% 95.75% 5.75%P
age 58



Appendix B

KPI 4.2 Percentage of Freedom of information requests resolved within timescale  

The annual average percentage of FOI requests resolved 
within the 20 day timescale is 86.7%%, however 
performance in Q4 was 94.4% which was above target.  

Response time increased year on year between 2016/17 
and 2018/19, these were then impacted by a period in 
2019/20 where the DPO post was waiting to be filled and 
FOIs were being actioned by existing staff members in 
addition to their own duties.  Quarterly FOI response times 
in 2019/20 have exceeded target in since Sept 2019 when 
the DPO post was filled.

Did the 
KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual Value 
vs 

Target

Trend Total 
FOIs 

received 

2016/17 90.00% 85.50% -4.50% 684

2017/18 90.00% 86.75% -3.25% 772

2018/19 90.00% 87.92% -2.08% 904

2019/20 90.00% 86.71% -3.29% 817

P
age 59



Appendix B

KPI 4.3 a_ Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting

This KPI is impacted by the cessation of the garden waste 
collection from October to March, therefor reducing the 
amount of waste that can be diverted from landfill in quarters 
three and four each year. Although the average target of 35% 
was not for the year, it was met in the first two quarters of the 
year.

Did the KPI 
hit target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 

2016/17 35.00% 32.48% -2.52%

2017/18 35.00% 32.64% -2.36%

2018/19 40.00% 36.60% -3.40%

2019/20 43.00% 36.10% -6.90%P
age 60



Appendix B

KPI 4.3 b_ Percentage reduction in residual household waste

This KPI currently measures tonnage of residual household 
waste, however the figures recorded do not take into account 
the number of new homes built and serviced.  Of which we 
know there were 84 brought back into use and 151 built in 
2019/20 alone.  For the financial year 2020/21 onwards this KPI 
will be replaced by one that measures % reduction of residual 
household waste collected per household.

Did the KPI 
hit target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 

2018/19 6% 6.28% 0.28%

2019/20 5% -1.25%

Following the launch of the kerbside recycling scheme in 
2018/19 there was a marked reduction in the amount of 
residual household waste collected (tonnes), as expected 
this has now levelled and in Quarter three an increase 
was recorded in the amount of residual household waste 
collected. 
This KPI is dependent on the behaviour of others, 
however for our part, Copeland continue to actively 
promote waste minimisation and reuse schemes across 
the borough in line with local and central government 
policy.

KPI 4.4b Percentage CTAX payed using DDeb payment method

Did the 
KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 

2018/19 60% 61.85% 1.85%

2019/20 60% 62.47% 2.47%

P
age 61



Appendix B

KPI 5.1 Percentage of 'major' planning applications determined within 13 weeks

Did the 
KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual Value 
vs 

Target

Trend 

2016/17 80.00% 88.75% 8.75%

2017/18 65.00% 100.00% 35.00%

2018/19 65.00% 100.00% 35.00%

2019/20 65.00% 100.00% 35.00%  

KPI 5.2 Percentage of planning 'minor' planning applications determined within 8 weeks

Did the 
KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 

2016/17 80.00% 87.78% 7.78%

2017/18 80.00% 96.46% 16.46%

2018/19 80.00% 97.77% 17.77%

2019/20 80.00% 98.31% 18.31%

P
age 62



Appendix B

KPI 5.3 Percentage of 'other' applications determined within 8 weeks

Did the 
KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 

2016/17 80.00% 100.00% 20.00%

2017/18 80.00% 95.70% 15.71%

2018/19 80.00% 97.63% 17.63%

2019/20 80.00% 98.91% 18.91%

KPI 5.4 Percentage of planning appeals dismissed 

Did the 
KPI hit 
target?

Target Actual Value vs 
Target

Trend 

2016/17

2017/18 70.00% 100.00% 30.00%

2018/19 100.00% 100.00% .00%

2019/20 80.00% 86.00% 6.00%

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Executive 21 July 2020

2019/20 Revenue & Capital Budget Monitoring Report – Provisional 
Outturn

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Mayor Mike Starkie (Portfolio Holder for Finance).
LEAD OFFICER: Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources.
REPORT AUTHOR: Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources.

SUMMARY:

This Provisional Outturn report sets out the year-end results against the 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets for the 2019/20 financial year.

RECOMMENDATION:

1. Note the 2019/20 Provisional Revenue Outturn of a £517k net 
overspend, (See Paragraph 1.2 and Appendix A); 

2. Note the summary of the revenue outturn variances (See Paragraph 1.4 
and Appendix A); 

3. Approve the budget carry forward requests of £266k and transfers from 
reserves (See Paragraph 1.6 and Appendix B); 

4. Note the provisional capital outturn for 2019/20 (See Paragraph 1.14); 
and

5. Recommend to Council programming changes and amendments to the 
2020/21 Capital Programme following the provisional outturn for 
2019/20 (See Paragraph 1.15).                                                                              

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. This report contains information on the Provisional Outturn position 
on spending against the Council’s Revenue Budget for 2019/20. The 
figures shown in this report are provisional and remain subject to 
change following completion of the 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20 
Draft Statement of Accounts and the subsequent external audit.

Page 65

Agenda Item 8



1.2. The Net Revenue Budget agreed by Council on 5th February 2019 for 
2019/20 was £8,798k; this includes a transfer from the General Fund 
of £227k. The table below summarises the provisional outturn 
position on spending against the Council’s Revenue Budget for 
2019/20.

Directorate £’000 Budget Provisional 
Outturn Variance Q3 

Variance
Chief Executive 4,120 4,074 27 (268)
Operations 4,674 5,905 1,154 1,184
Subtotal 8,794 9,979 1,181 916
Sources of Finance (8,798) (9,462) (664) (620)
Grand Total 8,786 517 517 296

1.3. The Provisional Outturn for the Council shows a forecast net 
overspend of £517k. The overspend is made up of an overspend 
against the directorate budgets of £1,181k, offset by forecast 
increased sources of funding of (£664k). This is an increase in the Q3 
forecast overspend. 

1.4. The impact of the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant 
impact on the Council’s finances and started to be felt before the 
introduction of the lockdown on the 23rd March 2020 and has 
contributed to the overspend against the directorate budgets; 
variances over £100k are summarised in the following paragraphs, 
with Appendix A showing all service areas within each Directorate.

Directorate / Service £’000 Provisional 
Outturn Q3 Variance

Beacon Museum 106 145
Business Support (ICT) 355 165
Refuse & Recycling 493 437
Revenues & Benefits 102 339
Other (Net Total) (125) (170)
Total 1,181 916

Page 66



1.5. A summary of the main variances are summarised below:

a) Beacon Museum; The overspend of £106k is largely due to a 
shortfall in income against budget of £112k (Sales £20k, Room Hire 
£29k and Admissions £63k). The Beacon reserve was fully utilised in 
2018/19 and therefore the overspend will be met from the Council’s 
General Reserve. 

b) Business Support (ICT); The overspend of £355k primarily 
relates to staffing of £153k and licences and Network costs of £176k; 
implementation of the new ICT Strategy will rationalise and thus 
reduce expenditure in this area.

c) Refuse and Recycling; The overspend of £493k is higher than at 
Q3 but this is largely due to the impact of COVID19 in March, the 
main factors for the overspend are set out below:

- The recycling service had a shortfall in income of £204k 
compared to budget due to lower income from the sales of recyclates 
and lower than budgeted tonnes of recycling resulting in lower 
Recycling Credits income.

- Staffing costs across all waste services (Domestic, commercial 
& recycling) overspent by £73k.

- There is a £62k pressure in the car parks budget due to higher 
business rates; and

- Car Parks had a shortfall in income of £80k compared to 
budget, this has been affected by an increased range of pop up car 
parks in the area.

Carry forward of Budget Underspends and Use of Earmarked 
Reserves

1.6. Budget underspends totalling £266k have been requested to be 
carried forward and are included in Appendix B, these have been 
assumed to be approved within this provisional outturn report, if not 
approved the overspend would be reduced accordingly. Appendix B 
also sets out the use of reserves during 2019/20.

Page 67



2019/20 Efficiency Plan

1.7. The 2019/20 Budget agreed by Council identified £591k of 
efficiencies required to balance the budget. The position against 
these for the year is set out in the table below:

Efficiencies £’000  Budget Provisional 
Outturn Variance

Fees & Charges (122) (122) 0
Members Allowances (52) (52) 0
Pensions fund savings from upfront 
payment in 2017/18 (final year) (67) (67) 0

External funding (350) 0 350
Total (591) (241) 350

Sources of Finance

1.8. Financing of the Council’s net Revenue budget of £8,798k is set out 
below. As set out in previous budget monitoring reports there is 
additional funding of £500k from earmarked reserves, following a 
review of the planned usage of reserves over the period of the 
medium term financial strategy, and an additional £120k of business 
rates pooling income estimated. This will be finalised as part of the 
production of the financial statements. Also an additional grant of 
£44k was received relating to the Government’s Emergency COVID19 
Funding package for local authorities.

Sources of Finance £’000  Budget Provisional 
Outturn Variance

Council Tax Income (4,334) (4,334) 0
Business Rates Retained Income (2,789) (2,909) (120)
Revenue Support Grant (39) (39) 0
New Homes Bonus (125) (125) 0
PFI Grant (837) (837) 0
Other Grants (447) (491) 44
Use of General Reserve (227) (227) 0

Page 68



Sources of Finance £’000  Budget Provisional 
Outturn Variance

Earmarked Reserves 0 (500) (500)
Total Sources of Finance (8,798) (9,418) (664)

General Reserves

1.9. The General Fund Reserve as at the 1st April 2019 was £2,969k, the 
table below sets out the forecast changes to the General Fund to 31st 
March 2020:

£’000
Balance as at 1st April 2019 (based on the unaudited 
positon)

(2,932)

Budgeted transfer to support 2019/20 budget 227
Provisional Outturn for 2019/20 517
Balance as at 31st March 2020 (2,188)
Minimum level agreed by Council (Feb 2020) (2,000)

1.10. The forecast General Reserve balance is above the minimum level of 
£2m agreed by Council in February 2020. 

Irrecoverable Debts

1.11. The Financial Regulations and Corporate Debt Recovery Policy set out 
the process and limitations for writing off irrecoverable debts. The 
following table summarises the debts written off during the year by 
the Chief Finance Officer. It is crucial that old debts do not block the 
system of debt recovery and regular reviewing of debts must be 
carried out. All of the debts below are provided for in the Bad Debt 
provision and therefore there is no impact on the Councils budgets in 
the year. 

1.12. A summary of the Debts written off is set out below along with the 
number in brackets.

Page 69



Council Tax Business 
Rates

Housing 
Benefit Over 

Payments

Sundry 
Debts Total

109,580.48
(236)

17,697.23
(48)

40,436.76
(88)

2,220.59
(32)

169,935.06
(404)

1.13. Both Council Tax and Business Rates write offs cover all preceptors 
not just Copeland; for example 13% of the Council Tax write offs 
relate to CBC. The Council Tax write offs are higher than expected 
because of a high proportion of debt relief orders received in 
2019/20. There are various reasons why debts are written off; due to 
deceased, bankruptcy, Dissolution of businesses, liquidation, unable 
to trace etc. 

Capital Budget

1.14. Council approved a Revised Capital Programme for 2019/20 of 
£1,955k at its meeting on 10th February 2020, this has been updated 
below with the Capital Grant received from MHCLG for the 
termination of the PFI contract on 31st March 2020 (approved by 
Council in December 2019). The Provisional Outturn is set out in the 
table below:

Project £’000  Revised 
Budget

Provisional 
Outturn Variance

Bereavement Services 1,000 836 164
Disabled Facilities Grants 557 550 7
Town Centre Regeneration 200 137 63
Beacon Virtual Museum 100 93 7
IT Infrastructure 98 126 (28)
Sub Total 1,955 1,742 213
Copeland Centre PFI 5,066 4,822 244
Total 7,021 6,564 457

Page 70



1.15. The variances against the capital programme was £457k. The 
Executive is asked to recommend to Council that the revised capital 
programme for 2020/21 is amended to include the above variances.

Treasury Management

1.16. The Treasury Management function supports the overall objectives 
and priorities of the Council, by the use of effective treasury 
management techniques. The aim is to manage risks and ensure 
there are sufficient cash resources and long-term borrowings to 
finance the Council’s activities and capital investment programme 
whilst balancing this to the secondary objective of trying to minimise 
the costs of the net interest budget. 

1.17. Long term borrowing remains at £5m (£5m at Q3) and investments 
are £29m as at 31st March. There is a net interest cost to the Council, 
this is due to interest on the loan being c7.5% and investment 
interest being around 0.5%.  

1.18. The Council undertook no new borrowing during 2019/20 in 
accordance with the 2019/20 Treasury Management Strategy. 

2. CONCLUSIONS

2.1. The recommendations allow the preparation of the statutory 
financial statements of the Council.

3. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

3.1. Legal/ Monitoring Officer’s Comments are: No legal issues arise from 
the report.

3.2. The Section 151 Officer’s comments are contained within the report.

3.3. EIA Comments: Not applicable. 

3.4. Policy Framework: Not applicable.

3.5. Other Consultee Comments, if any: None.

Page 71



4. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS

4.1. Contained within the report

5. HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE 
THE RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED?

5.1. The proposals will be managed by Director of Financial Resources.

6. WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS 
REPORT?

6.1. Contained within the body of the report.

List of Appendices 

Appendix A: 2019/20 Provisional Outturn by Service
Appendix B: Carry forward of Budget Underspends and Use of Earmarked 
Reserves

List of Background Documents:

None

 

Page 72



Appendix A
2019/20 Provisional Outturn by Service

Directorate Department
Budget 
£'000

Actual 
£'000

Variance 
£'000

Q3 
Variance 

£'000
Chief Executive Building Control 96 156 60 36

Chief Executive 402 361 (40) (43)
Communications 119 115 (4) (2)
Democratic Services 424 465 41 8
Development Control 23 (17) (39) (31)
Dir Corp Serv & Comm Strategy 290 238 (52) (36)
Elections 121 77 (44) (24)
Environmental Health 525 526 2 (29)
Financial Services 860 816 (43) (50)
Internal Audit 132 94 (39) (39)
Legal & Procurement Services 196 189 (7) 0
Nuclear (127) (17) 110 (50)
Property & Estates 787 879 92 (4)
Strategic Planning 201 193 (9) (3)

Chief Executive 
Total

4,047 4,074 27 (268)

Executive 
Director - 

Beacon Museum 167 273 106 145

Business Support 861 1,215 355 165
Copeland Community Fund 0 0 (0) 0
Customer Services 306 315 8 10
Economic Development 235 276 41 16
Executive Director of Operations 144 221 77 9
Head of Corporate Resources 62 71 9 9
Human Resources 321 323 2 (33)
Park & Open Spaces (33) (34) (1) 101
Refuse & Recycling 1,813 2,306 493 437
Revenues & Benefits 370 472 102 339
Strategic Housing 507 468 (39) (15)

Executive Director - 
Operations Total

4,751 5,905 1,154 1,184

Grand Total 8,798 9,979 1,181 916  

Page 73



Appendix B

Carry forward of Budget Underspends and Use of Earmarked Reserves

Carry forward of Budget Underspends

Service £ Comment
Human 
Resources

38,180
To support the implementation of a new HR Information 
System

Nuclear & 
Energy

31,029
Committed spend in 2020-21 of £30,000, balance of Vision & 
Prospectus work by ARUP

Housing - excl 
homelessness

24,043
Underspend will help provide a pot for legal and other 
interventions to tackle privately owned empty houses

Property 133,197
GLL repair and maintenance budget underspend delayed due 
to imminent refurbishment works (£95k) and various budget 
underspends due to delayed maintenance works (£38k).

Homelessness 40,000
To enable temporary accommodation stock to increase and 
meet demand and also for full redecoration off all properties 
including new furnishings. 

266,449

Transfer from Earmarked Reserves
Reserve £ Comment

External 
Resources

417,000

Budgeted external income for the Infrastructure Resilience 
Project has been delayed to 2020/21, the External Resources 
reserve will meet the budget shortfall in 2019/20 and the 
funding received in 2020/21 will be used to replenish this 
reserve drawdown.

External 
Resources

350,000 To meet shortfall in Social Value Projects Partnership Funding.

Copeland Centre 
PFI

734,747
To meet shortfall in budgeted income due to delay in 
purchasing Copeland Centre, purchase made in March 2020 
with expectation of rental income in autumn 2020.

1,501,747

Page 74



Executive 21 July 2020

Off- street Parking Places Order 2020

LEAD MEMBER: Cllr Steven Morgan, Portfolio Holder for 
Commercial Services

LEAD OFFICER: Sarah Pemberton Director Corporate Services and 
Commercial Strategy

REPORT AUTHOR: Shirley Procter-Dow, Community Services Manager

WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND 
RESIDENTS?
The Council provides a range of car parks in the borough which provide an 
income stream to supplement the Council budget year on year.

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE?
(eg Key Decision, Policy recommendation for Full Council, at request of 
Council,etc.)- 
The Council’s car parking order has been out for consultation since the last 
Executive meeting on 16 June 2020, following the consultation it is required 
to come before Executive for approval and adoption.

RECOMMENDATIONS to the Execuitve:  

1. Note the updated report to the car parking order 2020, including 
the outcome of the 21 day public consultation period

2. Note that County Council have been advised of the draft car parking 
order 2020 and final consent is expected, but at time of report 
writing, not yet received. 

3. Delegate final approval to the Monitoring officer, in consultation 
with the Mayor, to incorporate any final changes proposed by 
County Council, should they arise.

4. Approve the Car Parking Order 2020 together with the suggested 
minor amendments, at section 2 below.

Page 75

Agenda Item 9



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The new orders were approved for consultation by the executive on 
16 June 2020. The 21-day consultation has now been completed and 
the recommendations for minor amendments now need to be 
considered.    

1.2 Executive approval is necessary to further the process and ensure the 
procedure for the order that is required can continue.  The amended 
appendix is attached.

2. SUGGESTED AMENDMENTS PRIOR TO ISSUE

2.1 The Copeland Centre is a 24-hour car park at weekends and Bank 
Holidays however a ticket purchased on a Sunday afternoon would 
not be valid the next day (Monday) as the car park is for permit 
holders only. It is recommended that this is changed to a 12-hour 
ticket for the same price in order to meet the requirements of the 
permitted stay without any disabling restrictions.

2.2 Increase the permitted chargeable length of stay at St Bees 
Foreshore to suit visitor requirements by offering a 12-hour ticket at 
£8 which is in line with national parks charging.

3. THE PROCEDURE FOR MAKING OFF STREET PARKING PLACES 
ORDERS

3.1 All necessary procedures have been complied with and stakeholders 
notified. A consultation has been undertaken and the recommended 
minor changes are being put forward to the executive for approval.

3.2 During the 21 day consultation period, the Council has not received 
any objections or amendments from members of the public.

3.3 Under section 35(1) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, 
notification to, and consent from, the County Council is required in 

Page 76



order to exercise Copeland BC’s powers granted within any of 
the provisions of this Act; and any consent given by the County 
Council may be subject to such conditions or restrictions as they 
think fit.

3.4 The council’s power to introduce the car parking order will not be 
enacted until full County Council consent is received, and any 
suggested variations as advised by County will be incorporated.

3.5 If the Executive agree to the amendments, the order can be made. 
Therefore, within 14 days of making the order it has to be published 
in local newspapers stating that the order has been made, the date 
the order is to come into force and that if any person wishes to 
question the validity of the order or of any of its provisions, or, that 
any requirement of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 has not 
been complied with, that person may within six weeks from the date 
on which the order is made apply for the purpose to the High Court.

4. INCOME GENERATION

4.1 Car parking fees and charges for the current financial year were 
agreed by Council on 10 February 2020 as part of the annual budget 
setting process, however due to the Covid19 situation and as car 
parks have been provided free of charge since March, these updated 
fees for the current financial year have not yet been advertised or 
implemented. The intention is to implement these as soon as 
possible following the order being made. 

5. CONCLUSIONS

5.1 The Councils car parks play a role in supporting the local economy as 
well as generating a commercial income, and it is important that the 
car parks are managed effectively, and, that the needs of users are 
balanced with the Council’s requirement for revenue and financial 
sustainability.

Page 77



6.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

6.1 Legal comments are:  Subject to the County Council consenting to 
and commenting on the order it is appropriate to confirm the order; 
if such consultation still needs to take place then the Executive can 
endorse the order subject to the County Council’s consent and 
comments and delegate final approval of the order to the Director 
Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy in consultation with the 
Mayor. 

6.2 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are:  Contained in report.           
The report informs the current situation that Council is responding to 
in light of the current global pandemic and the local economic and 
social impact of businesses, residents and communities. The parking 
order 2020 reflects updates required for effective changes to, and, 
management of council owned assets and detailed governance 
arrangements required to be in place.

6.3 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: The current COVID19 
situation has resulted in less car parking income to date and this is 
likely to continue. Government has however confirmed that 75% of 
lost income will be reimbursed. The proposed recommendations 
ensures that the use and enforcement of the Council’s car parks 
reflects the current parking requirements and changes in technology.

6.4 EIA Comments: The Council provides free parking for disabled badge 
holders on all car parks. Designated accessible bays are available, and 
badge holders if able to, can park in any bay free of charge providing 
they park appropriately and display their blue badge.  

6.5 Policy Framework: legislative

6.6 Other consultee comments, if any: none

Page 78



7. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS

7.1 The cost of this process is primarily officer time only. There are costs 
involved in introduction of the car parking “App” for cashless payment, 
and updating of the pay and display machines for tariff changes, 
however the latter would have been required to implement the 2020-
21 approved fees and charges regardless of the order. 

8.      HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE    
THE RISKS GOING TO BE  MANAGED?

8.1 The implementation of the order will be managed by the Community 
Services manager along with officers from Legal services and 
Communications. Once the order is made it will become the 
framework by which the day to day management of car parks is 
operated.

9.      WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM 
THIS REPORT?

9.1 The enactment of the Order supports the Council’s budget and 
additionally allows charges to be applied on previously free of charge 
car parks supporting the generation of additional commercial 
income.

List of Appendices 

Appendix A – Amendments to schedules

List of Background Documents:

Copeland Borough Council (off street parking places) Order 2002

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



1

SCHEDULE 1

THE COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL (OFF STREET PARKING PLACES) ORDER 2020

Car Park Location or 
Name of Parking 
Place

Position in 
which a vehicle 
may wait

Class of vehicle Days of 
operation of 
Parking Place

Hours of operation 
of Parking Place

Maximum 
period for 
which vehicles 
may wait.

Charges to 
apply during 
the Charging 
Hours.

Sports Centre Car 
Park
(Castle Meadows)

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except 
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All Days 24 hours

Permit Bays

24 Hours As specified 
in Schedule 2

The Copeland Centre 
(Land at Catherine 
Street), Whitehaven

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All Days
Monday to Friday – 
Permit Holders only.  
Visitor parking, in 
marked bays only, 
30 minutes 
maximum stay. 
Parking Disc must be 
set at time of arrival. 
Disabled Badge 
Holders in marked 
bays only, maximum 
stay 2 Hours.

12 Hours As specified 
in Schedule 2

P
age 81



2

24 hrs Saturdays,           
Sundays and Bank 
Holidays.

North Shore Car park 
Whitehaven

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All Days 8am – 8pm As specified 
in Schedule 2

Schoolhouse Lane, 
Whitehaven

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All Days 24 hrs 4 hrs As specified 
in Schedule 2

Senhouse Street, 
Whitehaven

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 

All Days 24 hrs 4 hrs As specified 
in Schedule 2

P
age 82



3

than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

Duke Pit Car Park
Whitehaven

Wholly within a 
parking bay

All vehicles except
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All Days 8am -8pm 2 hours Free of 
charge

Castle Park (love Lane 
entrance)

Wholly within a 
parking bay

All vehicles except
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All days 8am – 8pm

Permit Bay & 
Disabled bays only

2 hours Free of 
charge

St Bees Foreshore, St 
Bees

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight

All Days 8am – 8pm

7 day permit

8 hours
(non-7 day 
permit holders) 

As specified 
in Schedule 2

P
age 83



4

(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

Land at Chapel Street, 
Egremont

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except 
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All Days 8am – 8pm

Permit bays

 

12 Hours As specified 
in Schedule 2

Land at Beck Green, 
Egremont

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay, 

All vehicles except Goods 
vehicles exceeding 1500 
kg unladen weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All days 8am – 8pm 12 Hours As specified 
in Schedule 2

Land at Beacon, 
Whitehaven

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay, 

All vehicles except All Days 8am – 8pm 12 Hours As specified 
in Schedule 2

P
age 84



5

(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

Civic Hall Whitehaven Wholly within a 
parking bay

All vehicles except 
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All days Permit holders only
Monday to Sunday

24 hours As specified 
in schedule 2

Land at Cleator Moor 
Square
Main car park – side 
Council Offices

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay, 

All vehicles except 
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All Days 8am – 8pm 

Market Traders only 
7am to 5pm Fridays

24 Hours As specified in 
schedule 2

P
age 85



6

Land at Cleator Moor 
Square
Main car park – rear 
Civic Hall

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay

All vehicles except 
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All Days 8am – 8pm 24 Hours As specified in 
schedule 2

Land off Jacktrees 
Road, Cleator Moor

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except 
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All Days 8am -8pm 24 Hours As specified in 
schedule 2

Gosforth Village Car 
Park 

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except 
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans

All Days 8am -8pm 24 Hours As specified in 
schedule 2

P
age 86



7

(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

Lancashire Road, 
Millom

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except 
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All Days 8am – 8pm 12 Hours As specified in 
schedule 2

Lord Street, Millom Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except 
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All Days 24 Hours
Free of charge

24 Hours FREE

P
age 87



8

Moor Head, Eskdale Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except 
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All Days 8am – 8pm 24 Hours As specified in 
schedule 2

Smithy Brow, Eskdale 
Green

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except 
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All Days 8am-8pm 24 Hours As specified in 
schedule 2

Church Street Cleator Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except 
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 

All Days 24 Hours
Free of charge

24 Hours Free of Charge

P
age 88



9

than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

Rear Main street 
Cleator

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except 
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All Days 24 Hours
Free of charge

24 Hours Free of Charge

Main Street, 
Distington

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except 
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All Days 24 Hours
Free of charge

24 Hours Free of Charge

Keekle, Keekle 
Terrace

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except All Days 24 Hours
Free of charge

24 Hours Free of Charge

P
age 89



10

(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

Main Street 
Hensingham

Wholly within a 
Parking Bay,

All vehicles except 
(a) Goods vehicles 
exceeding 1500kg unladen 
weight
(b) Passenger vehicles 
adapted to carry more 
than 12 passengers 
exclusive of driver
(c) Caravans
(d) Trailers exceeding 3m 
in length or 1500kg 

All Days 24 Hours
Free of charge

24 Hours Free of Charge

P
age 90



The Copeland Borough Council (Off-Street Parking Places) Order 2020

SCHEDULE 2

Initial Charges for private cars and light commercial vehicles not exceeding 1.5 
tonnes unladen weight; for motor cycle combinations; and for solo motor cycles.
 

Parking Place(s) Length of stay Charge (£) Monday – 
Sunday (inclusive)

School House Lane, 
Whitehaven
Senhouse Street, 
Whitehaven 

Up to 30 minutes
Up to 1 Hour
Up to 2 Hours
Up to 3 Hours
Up to 4 Hours

0.90
1.60
2.70
3.80
4.40

Sport Centre, 
Whitehaven

Up to 2 Hours
Up to 3 Hours
Up to 5 Hours
Up to 24 Hours

Monthly permit 
(payment by direct 
debit)
Monthly permit 
(payment by non-direct 
debit)
Annual Permit

2.70
3.60
4.20
6.00

80.00

85.00

850.00
Chapel Street, 
Egremont
Beck Green, Egremont

Up to 30 minutes
Up to 3 hours
Up to 5 hours
Up to 12 hours 

Monthly permit 
(payment by direct 
debit)
Monthly permit 
(payment by non-direct 
debit)
Annual Permit

0.90
2.20
4.20
5.00

75.00

80.00

800.00
North Shore, 
Whitehaven

Up to 1 hour
Up to 3 hours
Up to 5 hours

0.90
2.20
3.70

Page 91



Up to 12 hours 5.00

Copeland Centre, 
Whitehaven

Up to 1 hour
Up to 5 hours
Up to 24 hours

0.90
3.70
6.00

Beach Front, St Bees Up to 1 hour
Up to 2 hours
Up to 4 hours 
Up to 12 hours
7 day permit

1.60
2.70
3.90
8.00

30.00
Beacon, Whitehaven Up to 30 minutes

Up to 1 hour
Up to 2 hours 
Up to 3 hours
Up to 4 hours

0.90
1.60
2.70
3.60
4.20

Civic Hall, Whitehaven Permit Holders ONLY
Monthly permit 
(payment by direct 
debit)
Monthly permit 
(payment by non-direct 
debit)
Annual Permit

80.00

85.00

850.00
Smith Brow, Eskdale
Moor Head, Eskdale

Up to 2 hours
Up to 4 hours
Up to 12 hours

3.50
6.00
8.00

Lancashire Road, 
Millom 
The Sqaure, Cleator 
Moor
Jacktrees Road, Cleator 
Moor

Up to 30 minutes
Up to 3 hours
Up to 5 hours
Up to 12 hours 

0.90
2.20
4.20
5.00

Monthly permits are pre-paid tickets and are valid for one calendar month
Annual permits are pre-paid tickets and are valid for 1 calendar year.

Page 92



The Copeland Borough Council (off street parking places) Order 2020 
Schedule 3

Penalty charge notice (PCN) costs

There are two levels of PCN – a higher level and a lower level – depending on 
what the parking contravention is – see list below.

A 50% discount is applied if the PCN is paid within 14 days. If a PCN is unpaid it 
increases by 50% after a charge certificate is issued and it is then registered as 
a debt. Unpaid debts are recovered by enforcement agents and incur 
additional charges.

PCN charges are:

higher level PCN – £70.00

if paid within 14 days – £35.00

if unpaid and after service of a charge certificate – £105.00 + £8 for the debt 
recovery fee

lower level PCN – £50.00

if paid within 14 days – £25.00

if unpaid and after service of a charge certificate – £75.00

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



Executive 210720

The UK Government’s approach to identifying a site for a Geological 
Disposal Facility (GDF) for higher-activity radioactive waste 

LEAD MEMBER: Councillor David Moore, Portfolio Holder for Nuclear & Corporate 
Services

LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham, Chief Executive Officer

REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Smith, Nuclear Projects Manager

WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND 
RESIDENTS?

This report provides Executive with an update on the Government’s search 
for a suitable site and a willing community to host a Geological Disposal 
Facility (GDF) for the disposal of the UK’s higher activity radioactive waste, 
as described within the Government’s Working with Communities (WwC) 
policy. Executive will be aware that the vast majority of the waste destined 
for a GDF is currently stored on the Sellafield site.

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE?

This report provides Executive with the current position with regards the 
Government’s search for a suitable site and a willing community to host a 
GDF.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

It is recommended that the Executive note the current position.

1. Introduction and background

1.1. Members of the Executive will recall the programme of Member 
engagement events commencing in October of last year, which 

Page 95

Agenda Item 10



included Member briefing sessions with the Nuclear Decommissioning 
Authority, Sellafield Ltd, the Committee on Radioactive Waste 
Management (CoRWM) and Radioactive Waste Management (RWM) 
Ltd, the wholly owned subsidiary of the NDA with the responsibility for 
delivering a GDF. 

1.2. This process concluded just prior to the Covid19 lockdown with a 
Council Members briefing session on 27th February to consider the 
relevance of the Council’s Position Statement on the Long Term 
Management of Higher Activity Radioactive Wastes (including 
Geological Disposal). This was subsequently reviewed and endorsed by 
Executive at its meeting on 16th March. Key messages within the 
revised policy statement included;

 Regardless of final location for a GDF the Copeland community is 
affected and the Sellafield site will be at the front end of the 
operational phase of a GDF for many decades to come

 Working in the best interests of our community the Council will 
engage in the process to better understand the implications for 
our communities and the Council reserves the right to vary or 
withdraw the nature of our involvement.

 The Council’s engagement at Working Group and/or Community 
Partnership stage does not presuppose support for a GDF in 
Copeland or West Cumbria. According to the WwC process, any 
future decision on this matter will be subject to a future Test of 
Public Support. In the early stages, we consider it our duty to our 
community to engage in the process to understand the 
implications for Copeland of this project.

 

Page 96



2. Update on the Government’s Working with Communities approach

2.1. A number of activities have taken place over the last 3 months that 
form the update to Members;

 The Council has been at the forefront of the development of the 
Cumbria Nuclear Prospectus which with the support of a range 
of stakeholders, sets out a roadmap for Cumbria to become the 
Northern “Living Lab” for clean energy: decarbonising heat, 
power and transport, and driving Clean Growth as we head 
towards Net Zero by 2050. The Prospectus includes a section on 
‘Managing the Legacy’ and recognises that the provision of a 
solution for safe and secure long-term management of the UK’s 
higher activity radioactive waste is key to making the case for 
the UK’s nuclear new build programme. The Prospectus is 
currently in the final stages of stakeholder engagement before 
final endorsement later this month.

 Officers have continued to engage with officials from RWM Ltd 
to understand the progress in the process 

 RWM Ltd continue to raise awareness nationally of the 
Governments approach to find a suitable site and willing host 
community for a GDF and the potential economic benefits that 
such a proposal could bring to communities. 

 At the request of the Council, RWM have prepared a draft 
Transport Study to understand the physical and financial 
implications of moving the waste currently stored on the 
Sellafield site to another location elsewhere in the country for 
disposal. The headlines and conclusions of the study have been 
previously shared with SNEB Members.

 In addition a draft study of the socio-economic impact of a GDF 
being sited elsewhere in England or Wales on the local economy 

Page 97



has also been prepared, to help shape the Council’s 
understanding of the options available.

 RWM Ltd have discussed a potential ‘route map’ of the steps 
that they would need to take to establish a Working Group, 
which is the first public facing stage of the Working with 
Communities process, should an interested party take that 
decision to proceed to establish a Working Group.

Page 98



Executive 21/07/20

BUSINESS AND PLANNING BILL

LEAD MEMBER: Councillors Gwyneth Everett (Inclusive 
Communities to include licensing and community 
safety) and Mike McVeigh (Environment and Place 
to include development management);

LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham, Chief Executive; and
REPORT AUTHOR: Clinton Boyce, Solicitor

WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND 
RESIDENTS?

The Business and Planning Bill (‘the Bill’), currently being considered by 
Parliament, introduces temporary measures to support businesses and 
protect existing planning permissions through the Covid-19 pandemic. This 
report is mainly concerned with ‘pavement licences’ which allows cafes and 
pubs to place tables and chairs on highways to assist with social distancing 
and to bring some normality to trade.

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE?
(eg Key Decision, Policy recommendation for Full Council, at request of 
Council,etc.)

Implementation of the Bill is an executive function but not a key decision. 

RECOMMENDATIONS:

That, subject to the Business and Planning Bill becoming law:

(a)     that the executive function of determining applications for a 
pavement licence in accordance with part 1 of the Business and Planning 
Act 2020 be delegated to the Public Protection Manager, such delegation to 
include setting up new process and determining standard (published) and 
specific conditions to be attached to a licence and duration of licence;

Page 99

Agenda Item 11



(b)    that the Executive determines whether a fee of any amount up to 
£100 should be charged for an application made in respect of a pavement 
licence;

(c)    that a review against a refusal of an application by the Public 
Protection Manager be delegated to the Chief Executive in consultation 
with the Mayor who may then grant the application, if appropriate, and 
subject to such conditions as may be appropriate and for a specified 
duration; 

(d)   that enforcement of conditions attached to a pavement licence is 
delegated to both the Public Protection Manager and the Community 
Services Manager (and in respect of the latter, the Council’s Enforcement 
Officers);

(e)  that in the event of either (a) the function changing, before enactment, 
to a non-executive function or (b) the Act being brought into force prior to 
the expiry of the call in period for the Executive decision, that it be noted 
that the Chief Executive will, using urgent decision making powers, endorse 
the above recommendations and respect the level of fee, if any, set by the 
Executive; and

(f)  that the possible changes in respect of licensing and planning matters, 
referred to in the report, be noted.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Bill deals with a number of issues designed to support business 
and development. It has passed through the House of Commons and, 
at the time of writing the report, is progressing through the House of 
Lords. It is expected to be law over the coming days. This report deals 
with decisions needed in readiness for it becoming law. This is 
because parts of the Act take immediate effect with strict time limits 
imposed for the determination of some applications. This is unusual 
as Acts normally have a lead in period to allow for preparation. The 

Page 100



Bill, as it currently stands, is available via this link - 
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/lbill/58-
01/119/5801119.pdf 

1.2  The Bill deals with a number of issues, namely:

(a) Pavement licences (clauses 1 – 10), to be in force immediately;
(b)   The modification of a premises licence to authorise off-sales for a 

limited period (clause 11), to be in force immediately;
(c)  For the bounce back loan scheme and removal of powers of court in 

relation to unfair relationships (clause 12), this will be retrospectively 
in force from 4th May; 

(d)  For certificates of temporary exemption for public service and goods 
vehicles (clause 13) and temporary reduction in duration of certain 
driving licences (clause 14), in force immediately;

(e)  For the modification of conditions relating to construction working 
hours for planning purposes (clause 16), this comes into force 6 days 
after the Act is made; and

(f) For the extension of duration of certain planning permissions (clause 
17); extensions in connection with outline planning permission 
(clause 18) and extension of the duration of certain listed building 
consents (clause 19), they come into force 28 days after the Act is 
made; for the procedure for certain planning proceedings (clause 20) 
the day the Act is made, immediately.

2. PAVEMENT LICENCES

2.1 A pavement licence allows a person who is licensed under the Act to 
put removable furniture on a relevant highway adjacent to his/her 
premises for the purpose of using the furniture either (a) to sell or 
serve food or drink supplied from, or in connection with relevant use 
of, the premises or (b) or for the purpose of consuming food or drink 
supplied from, or in connection with relevant use of, the premises. 
‘Relevant use’ means the premises themselves are being used as a 
public house, wine bar or other drinking establishment or any other 
use for the sale of food or drink for consumption on or off the
premises.

Page 101

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/lbill/58-01/119/5801119.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/lbill/58-01/119/5801119.pdf


2.2 A person may apply to a district council for a pavement licence. 
There are a number of formalities which an application must comply 
with including specifying days and times of days of use, evidence of 
insurance, type of furniture, etc. There is power to require further 
information as appropriate. Applications must be sent electronically. 

2.3 An application must be accompanied by such fee as the local 
authority may require, not exceeding £100. The Executive is asked to 
consider whether a fee should be charged and, if so, how much it 
should be, up to that amount. The costs to the Council of processing 
each licence are likely to exceed £100.

2.4 Immediately it receives an application the Council must publish the 
application and invite representations from the public which must be 
made within 7 days beginning with the day after that on which the 
application is made. During such period the applicant must put a site 
notice on the premises advising that an application has been made.

2.5 The Council must then determine the application within 7 days 
beginning with the first day after the public consultation period ends. 
If it does not determine the application then it is deemed granted.

2.6 Before determining the application the Council must consult with the 
Cumbria County Council as highway authority, take into account 
representations received from the public, and consult with ‘such 
other persons as the local authority considers appropriate’ (an 
example might the police in respect of licensed premises).

2.7 The Council may either grant or reject the application. If granted, the 
Council could restrict its use or area of highway to be used. It can 
only grant the licence if it is satisfied that traffic will not be 
obstructed or prevented from gaining access to premises; and that 
statutory undertakers or operators of electronic communications will 
not be prevented from accessing their equipment. 

Page 102



2.8 A pavement licence may be granted for such period as the Council 
may specify or if no period is specified then it will expire on the 30th
September 2021. If it does specify a period it must not be less that 
three months nor extend beyond the 30th September 2021. If it is 
deemed granted, by default of the Council not determining it within 
the period required (2.5 above) then it will be deemed granted for a 
year subject to it expiring in any event on the 30th September 2021.

2.9 The Council, if it grants a licence, may impose such conditions as it 
considers reasonable. It can publish conditions subject to which it 
proposes to grant pavement licences and if a licence is granted by 
default it will be deemed subject to those published conditions. A 
mandatory condition is a condition that the licence-holder will not 
cause an obstruction as mentioned in 2.7 above. The Secretary of 
State may also publish additional conditions and if these come later, 
licences already granted will be deemed subject to them.

 2.10 It is recommended that the setting up of process (including setting 
published conditions) and determination of applications (including 
period of licence of specific conditions) is delegated to the Public 
Protection Manager. She is responsible for licensing and public 
protection and this new function aligns to those responsibilities. 
Oddly the Act does not confer rights of appeal to a court against a 
refusal of an application. It is therefore reasonable to have an 
internal appeal or review mechanism and it is recommended that any 
such reviews are considered by the Chief Executive in consultation 
with the Mayor.

2.11 In respect of enforcement non-compliance with a condition can 
result in revocation or notice being served requiring the licence-
holder to correct the breach. If on receiving a notice s/he does not 
correct the breach then the Council can ‘revoke the notice, or take 
the steps itself and recover the costs of doing so from the 
licenceholder’. Whilst it reads oddly the option of revoking the notice 
might come into play if there is a discussion with the licence-holder 
and the Council changes its mind. A licence can also be revoked if 
certain other circumstances apply – the highway becomes unsuitable 

Page 103



for the purposes of the licence; as a result of the licence either there 
is a risk to public health or safety, or anti-social behaviour or public 
nuisance is being caused or at risk of being caused; the highway is 
being obstructed (other than by anything done by the licence-holder 
pursuant to the licence); or anything material stated by the licence-
holder in their application was false or misleading, or it comes to light 
that the licence-holder did not comply with the duty to put up site 
notices during the application period.

2.12 It is recommended that enforcement is delegated to either the Public 
Protection Manager or the Community Services Manager (and her 
Enforcement Officers). The former is already responsible for 
enforcing business closures and other public safety issues arising 
from Covid-19 as well as processing applications for licences. This 
dual delegation would allow enforcement to be shared if the Public 
Protection Manager’s resources do not allow.

2.13 A pavement licence issued is also deemed planning permission for 
the activity covered.  The highway authority is reserved powers to 
remove items placed on the highway if they become a nuisance 
although the exercise of such power, under the Highways Act 1980, is 
protracted.

3.0 ALCOHOL LICENSING

3.1 The Bill contains a change to the Licensing Act 2003 to allow licensed 
premises which cannot sell alcohol off the premises to do so for a 
limited period (until the 30th September 2021) when the premises are 
allowed to be open. Off-sales in open containers remain prohibited 
along with off sales where it is a sale for delivery. 

3.2 The statutory off-sales authorisation is subject to revocation or 
expiry of the premises licence or the exclusion of off-sales from the 
scope of the licence. The Act will introduce a summary off-sales 
review which can take place if the licensing objectives are not being 
met. If a review is received by the Council then it must, within 48 
hours, decide whether any interim steps should take place and then, 

Page 104



within 28 days, determine the review itself. Detailed provisions are 
made for the conduct of reviews.

3.3 The alcohol licensing provision must by law, be dealt with the 
Licensing Committee and its Sub-Committees so no further actions 
are required by the Executive in this regard. The taking interim steps 
within 48 hours will require swift action and the Bill does not allow 
such a decision to be taken by officers. This means it must either be 
taken by the Licensing Committee or a Licensing Sub-Committee. 

4.0 BOUNCE BACK LOAN SCHEME / CHANGES TO GOODS, PASSENGER 
AND PUBLIC SERVICE VEHICLES

4.1 For information, the Bounce Back Loan Scheme is a new scheme 
introduced to help smaller businesses impacted by coronavirus 
(COVID-19). It aims to assist those businesses to borrow between 
£2,000 up to 25% of a business’ turnover (the maximum amount 
available is £50,000). Government will cover any interest payable in 
the first 12 months to the lender, and lenders will benefit from a 
100% government-backed guarantee. The government has set the 
interest rate for this loan at 2.5% per annum and the repayment 
term is fixed at six years. No repayments will be due during the first 
12 months. Businesses remain 100% liable to repay the full loan 
amount, as well as interest, after the first year. The Bill disapplies the 
Court’s power under the Consumer Credit Act 1974 to rule a Scheme 
loan an unfair relationship agreement.

4.2 Again, for information, the Bill introduces a number of changes to 
transport law. These are amending existing legal provisions in the 
Road Traffic Act 1988 relating to the issue of certificates of 
temporary exemption to goods vehicles and public service vehicles 
and restricting the duration of driving licences in certain 
circumstances. The only thing which may be of relevance is making 
provision for a certificate of temporary exemption in respect of 
goods vehicles subject to conditions. This will be subject to 

Page 105



Regulations made by the Secretary of State. Any implications arising 
from the Regulations will be dealt with at that time and when known.

5.0 PLANNING CHANGES

5.1 A permanent change to the planning process is one which allows the 
Planning Inspectorate to implement "flexible deployment" of written 
representations, hearings or local inquiries – or a mix of all three – 
for any appeal process, including those relating to a planning 
application, enforcement notice or for changing affordable housing 
under a section 106 agreement. 

5.2 Temporary planning measures proposed include the introduction of a 
new, fast track application process for the temporary variation of 
planning conditions relating to construction site working hours. The 
extension can be to hours or days. The extension can only be granted 
to April 2021. Approval will be deemed to be granted if the local 
authority does not respond in 14 days. This short period and default 
provision will place pressure on local authorities. Under the Council’s 
constitution these applications will fall to be determined by the 
Planning and Place Manager subject to any of the reserved powers 
applying requiring it to be considered by the Planning Panel (on 
member request; contrary to development plan; substantive 
objections from statutory consultees/parish councils raising material 
planning considerations; Council/officer applications; of sufficient 
importance). 

5.3 Clause 17 of the Bill provides for the extension of some planning 
permissions and applies both to permissions that are due to expire 
and those that have expired already. Where permissions were due to 
expire between the date the Bill comes into force and 31 December 
2020 the time limit for commencement or submission of reserved 
matters is extended to April 2021. Where permissions expired on a 
date between 23 March this year and the date the Bill comes into 
force then the time limit for commencement is extended to April 
2021. Where the expired permission needed an environmental 
impact assessment (EIA) then an additional environmental approval 

Page 106



will have to be obtained. The local authority has to be "satisfied" that 
the EIA and habitats requirements are met and this test is simply that 
the proposal is covered by an up to date EIA or assessment.

5.4 Planning changes, like alcohol licensing, are non-executive functions 
and fall to be dealt with largely by the Planning and Place Manager 
with support from the Planning Panel.

6. DISCUSSION

6.1 The Bill deals with a number of issues some of which will have an 
impact on the Council in terms of resources, possibly substantial if a 
large number of pavement licence applications are received at the 
same time. Additional resources might be required both within 
Environmental Services and Development Management. Until 
applications materialise such requirements can only be speculated.

6.2 A number of decisions arise from the Bill and the recommendations 
set out above put the necessary decisions and mechanisms in place 
for the Council to be ready for early enactment of the Bill. 
Recommendation (e) notes that the Chief Executive will exercise 
urgent powers if the legislation, once enacted, changes the function 
to a non-executive function or if the Act is enacted before the expiry 
of the call in period.

7. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS TO BE CONSIDERED

None, as the changes are resulting from new legislation and must be 
complied with.

8. CONCLUSIONS

The Bill overall is designed to assist businesses dealing with the 
impact of Covid-19 impacts and are to be welcomed. Whilst they 
have an impact on the Council in terms of processing applications 
this is not insurmountable and once, in respect of pavement licences, 

Page 107



processes are established and any rush of initial applications has 
been dealt with, the day to day impact should not be significant.

9.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

9.1 Legal comments are: Solicitor is report author; legal issues are dealt 
with fully in the report.

9.2 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: Contained in the report.

9.3 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: : The main financial 
consideration relates to whether a fee of any amount up to £100 
should be charged for an application made in respect of a pavement 
licence. The Council reviews its fees and charges annually to ensure 
they cover costs where possible and where applicable, raise them by 
RPI in line with current inflation rates. This report sets out that the 
cost of processing each licence is likely to exceed £100, if the 
Executive determined a charge lower than £100 this may give rise to 
an unbudgeted financial pressure in the future depending on the 
volume of applications.

9.4 EIA Comments: The legislator has provided a full public sector 
equality duty assessment and family test on the Bill which concludes 
that “several measures in this Bill will affect people with protected 
characteristics. However, the negative effects have been mitigated 
against so that those people do not suffer from the measures. 
Additionally, there are several areas where people with protected 
characteristics will benefit from the measures in this Bill. The equality 
aspects of protected characteristics in this Bill have been considered 
and acted upon”. The assessment can be viewed via this link - 
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-
01/0148/PSED%20and%20Family%20Test%20-
%20Business%20and%20Planning%20Bill.pdf 

9.5 Policy Framework: Not applicable.

Page 108

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-01/0148/PSED%20and%20Family%20Test%20-%20Business%20and%20Planning%20Bill.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-01/0148/PSED%20and%20Family%20Test%20-%20Business%20and%20Planning%20Bill.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-01/0148/PSED%20and%20Family%20Test%20-%20Business%20and%20Planning%20Bill.pdf


9.6 Other consultee comments, if any: None.

10. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS

As set out in paragraph 6.1 above.

11.      HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE    
THE RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED?

The risks will be managed by the Public Protection Manager and 
Planning and Places Manager. The main risks arises from processes 
not being in place before the time applications are received and then 
insufficient resources being in place to process applications resulting 
in permissions being granted by default. The Managers will be ready 
to address the issue of resources as appropriate. As with other Covid-
19 operations the option of using short term redeployment could be 
used.

12.      WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM 
THIS REPORT?

Processing of statutory applications within statutory timeframes.

List of Appendices 

None.

List of Background Documents:

Business and Planning Bill; and
Legislator’s public sector equality duty assessment and family test.

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 111

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Statements of Executive Decisions of the Meeting held on 16 June 2020
	6 Forward Plan
	7 2019/20 Council Performance Plan - Quarter 4
	Appendix A key deliverables for Q4 of 2019-20 (Exec) 13072020
	Appendix B - KPIs for Q4 of 2019-20 (Exec) 13072020

	8 2019/20 Revenue & Capital Budget Monitoring Report - Provisional Outturn
	9 Off-Street Parking Places Order 2020
	Amended CAR PARK ORDER SCHEDULE 1 June 2020
	Amended Car Park Order Schedule 2 June 2020
	Amended car park order schedule 3 June 2020

	10 The UK Government's approach to identifying a site for a Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) for higher-activity radioactive waste
	11 Business and Planning Bill
	12 Update on Copeland Borough Council's Development of a Business Case for Whitehaven against The Future High Streets Fund

